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Welcome

Introduction
Welcome to Yarra City Council’s 
Annual Report for 2016/17.

Like all Victorian councils, Yarra is 
required to prepare its Annual 
Report in accordance with the 
Local Government Act 1989, and to 
submit it to the Minister for Local 
Government by 30 September 
2017.

The Annual Report is also a great 
opportunity to share information 
with our community by:

› detailing our progress towards 
the objectives we set in the 
Council Plan 2013–17

› highlighting achievements and 
challenges 

› providing information about our 
finances and governance. 

Acknowledgement

Yarra City Council acknowledges 
the Wurundjeri as the Traditional 
Owners of this country, pays 
tribute to all Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people in 
Yarra and gives respect to Elders 
past and present.

Front cover: Bargoonga Nganjin, 
the new North Fitzroy library 
branch and community hub, was 
opened in April.

Back cover: Fitzroy restaurateur 
Saba Alemayoh

Your feedback
If you’d like to let us know what 
you think of this report, or have  
an idea of what you’d like to  
see in future reports, give us  
a call on 9205 5555 or email  
info@yarracity.vic.gov.au 

Print copy
Printed copies of this report are 
available at our Customer Service 
Centres or any Yarra Libraries 
branch:

Collingwood Town Hall, Connie 
Benn Centre, Richmond Town Hall, 
Bargoonga Nganjin – North Fitzroy 
Library, Carlton Library, 
Collingwood Library, Fitzroy 
Library, Richmond Library
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Large print
If you would like a large  
print version, give us a call  
on 9205 5555 or email  
info@yarracity.vic.gov.au 

Electronic copy
PDF versions of this report  
can be downloaded from  
yarracity.vic.gov.au 

Translations

REF: 18009

Yarra City Council 
Annual Report 2016/17 03



Contents

 Welcome

02 Acknowledgment

02 Introduction

06 Your city

08 Your Council

 Report of operations

10 The year in review

12 Looking ahead

14 Mayor’s message

16  Chief Executive Officer’s 
message

18  Chief Financial Officer’s 
report

24 Capital works

28 Capital works spotlight

30 Your investment in Yarra

32 Council staff

 Performance report

42 Performance summary

44  Strategic Objective 1  
– Celebrating Yarra’s 
uniqueness

48  Strategic Objective 2 
– Supporting Yarra’s 
community

58  Strategic Objective 3 
– Making Yarra more liveable

68  Strategic Objective 4 
– Ensuring a sustainable 
Yarra

72  Strategic Objective 5 
– Leading local government

  Governance, 
management and 
statutory information

78  Governance and 
management

80  Governance and 
management checklist

84 Statutory information

 Financial statements

 Performance statement

 Index

155 Glossary

158 Acronyms

159 Contact us

02

10

40

78

88

136

154

Collingwood Seniors Hub Mural

04 Contents



05Yarra City Council 
Annual Report 2015/16



Your city

People
The City of Yarra has a 
relatively young population 
with 30.6% in the 25 to 34 age 
group, compared with 16.3% 
for greater Melbourne.

There are fewer households 
with children (21.2% compared 
to 43.5%), significantly more 
group households (12.8% 
compared to 4.7%), and just over 
half our residents are renting, 
compared to just under a third 
in greater Melbourne. 

About a quarter of our 
community speaks a language 
other than English at home, 
compared to a third in greater 
Melbourne. The most widely 
spoken non-English languages 
in Yarra are Vietnamese, Greek 
and Mandarin. There are 385 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people living in Yarra.

Yarra is economically and socially 
diverse. While nearly a quarter of 
households earn over $3,500 per 
week, more than one quarter 
earn less than $1000 per week 
and many are living with 
economic hardship and social 
disadvantage. Around 10% of 
our community lives in public 
housing. Nearly half of Yarra 
residents have a Bachelor degree 
or higher, and just under a third 
have no tertiary qualifications. As 
our population continues to grow 
and general socio-economic 
status improves, there will be 
increasing importance for telling 
the underlying story of 
disadvantage and social justice 
to ensure appropriate access to 
funding and service responses.

Pan Afrikan Poets Café founder Zai Zander 
(pictured at the 3CR studio in Fitzroy).
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Yarra is renowned for its 
dynamic mix of retail, hospitality 
and entertainment precincts. Its 
235 hectares of parkland and 
open space offer a welcome 
buffer to high density living, and 
its heritage buildings are central 
to its character. About two 
thirds of all properties in Yarra 
are covered by a heritage 
overlay, including residential, 
commercial, industrial and civic 
buildings. In fact, more 
properties are covered by a 
heritage overlay in Yarra than in 
any other municipality in 
Victoria.

Yarra’s identity as a creative place 
is built upon the legacy of the 
students, artists and activists who 
moved here in the 1970s and 80s. 
It is home to 60 art galleries, 
numerous artist studios, over 50 
live music venues, three 
community radio stations and a 
growing creative industry. 

Fitzroy and Collingwood have 
historical significance for the 
Aboriginal community as they 
were a major hub of social and 
political activity, and today remain 
a critical centre for Aboriginal 
services and organisations.

Yarra has a thriving local economy 
employing nearly seventy 
thousand people. The largest 
employer is the health sector, 
which accounts for over a fifth of 
all jobs, closely followed by the 
retail food and accommodation 
sector. Most of Yarra’s workers 
(86%) live outside the municipality.

Place Identity Economy
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The Yarra community is represented by nine elected Councillors. 

While individual Councillors 
are able to consult with their 
constituents and advocate on their 
behalf, it is only as a collective that 
they can make decisions affecting 
the municipality. 

Each November, Councillors elect 
a Mayor from within their ranks to 
chair formal meetings and speak 
on behalf of Council in a variety 
of forums. 

This Council was elected on 
22 October 2016.

Its term will conclude on 
24 October 2020.

Your 
Council
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Langridge Ward 
Councillors

Elected 2016

Elected 2016

First elected 2004 and 
subsequently re-elected 2008, 
2012 and 2016

Elected 2016

First elected 2008 and 
subsequently re-elected 2012 and 
2016. Cr Stone served as Mayor for 
2008/2009 and was elected again 
for 2016/2017.

Elected 2016

Cr Danae 
Bosler 

Cr Mi-Lin 
Chen Yi Mei 

Cr Stephen 
Jolly 

Cr Daniel 
Nguyen 

Cr Amanda 
Stone 

Cr James 
Searle 

Melba Ward 
Councillors



Cr Geoff Barbour

Cr Roberto Colanzi

Cr Sam Gaylard

Cr Simon Huggins

Cr Phillip Vlahogiannis 

First elected 2012 and 
subsequently re-elected 2016.

First elected 2002 and 
subsequently re-elected 2004, 
2008, 2012 and 2016 

Elected 2016

Cr Misha 
Coleman 

Cr Jackie 
Fristacky 

Cr Mike 
McEvoy 

Nicholls Ward 
Councillors

Outgoing councillors
Five Councillors concluded their time in office in October 2016.
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Celebrating Yarra’s 
Uniqueness
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Supporting  
Yarra’s Community
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› The Heritage Gap Study 
focussed on heritage places, 
particularly in commercial 
areas and activity centres, to 
improve statements of 
significance. 

› Multicultural residents and 
communities continued to be 
supported through the 
Multicultural Partnerships 
Plan. This included the 
introduction of Council 
information packs in ten 
languages.

› The Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander community 
continued to be supported 
through the Aboriginal 
Partnerships Plan. This 
included working towards 
creating a Stolen Generations 
Marker and garden.

› A range of public art projects 
were delivered, including a 
new temporary work on the 
Edinburgh Gardens plinth.

› Community consultation for 
the next four-year Council 
Plan reached out to under-
represented groups to ensure 
their voices were heard.

› Eligible people were assisted  
to transition to the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS). Yarra is the first council 
in Victoria to roll out the NDIS, 
with about 750 local residents 
expected to join. 

› A range of evidence-based 
programs was delivered to 
support the wellbeing of 
parents, families and young 
people. This included a parent 
education program and a youth 
mental health program.

› Older residents continued to be 
supported through the River of 
Life: Positive Aging Strategy. 
This year’s focus included the 
LGBTIQ Plan to support 
inclusive practice within Aged 
and Disability services.

› Bargoonga Nganjin, the new 
North Fitzroy library branch 
and community hub, was 
opened in April.

› Upgrades and renovations were 
undertaken at the three leisure 
centres. These included change 
room renovations and a 
heating–cooling upgrade.

› Five Neighbourhood 
Community Infrastructure Plans 
were completed. These will 
guide infrastructure planning 
for library, leisure and child care 
services.

› Service reviews were 
completed for a number of 
Council services. This is part  
of a progressive review of 
long-term direction of all 
Council services.

The year in review

Following is a snapshot of 
the year’s work towards 
achieving our strategic 
objectives. 

01   
  Yarra maintains four 
customer service centres, 
responding to 170,000 
community requests each 
year.

02   
  Yarra’s five public libraries 
attracted 571,513 in person 
visits and 634,105 web 
visits in 2016/17.

Council  
Fast Facts
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03 04 05

Making Yarra  
More Liveable

Ensuring a 
Sustainable Yarra

Leading Local 
Government

› Underground sensors were 
installed in high-demand 
time-restricted parking bays 
to encourage compliance.  
This will create more free bays 
for residents in residential 
areas and customers in 
commercial areas.

› Sports lights were installed  
at two soccer fields in Kevin 
Bartlett Reserve, increasing 
the capacity for training on 
these pitches.

› Yarra’s Licensed Premises 
Planning Scheme amendment 
was put on exhibition. This will 
help us better manage the 
location, size, operation and 
hours of licensed venues.

› A proposed new park in 
Abbotsford, by way of a road 
discontinuance, reached 
detailed design stage.

› Construction on a shared 
pathway at Coulson Reserve 
neared completion, helping  
to make the area safer for 
pedestrians, cyclists and other 
park users. 

› Advocacy continued for 
sustainable transport, 
including bicycle 
infrastructure and improved 
public transport.

› A review of Yarra’s activity 
centre built form is near 
completion. This will inform 
urban design guidelines and 
planning height controls.

› Yarra was named 2016 
Sustainable City of the Year  
at the Keep Victoria Beautiful 
Awards. Yarra also won three 
out of eight category awards.

› The Urban Forest Strategy  
is near completion. This will 
provide direction for urban 
greening, with a focus on 
reducing the urban heat island 
effect.

› A new four-year funding 
agreement with the Yarra 
Energy Foundation was 
entered into. The foundation 
helps residents and businesses 
reduce their carbon emissions.

› The contract for new solar 
and/or replacement battery 
installation has been awarded 
as part of the adaptive assets 
program.

› A number of advocacy  
projects were undertaken, 
including Richmond High 
School, Regional Sports 
Facility and affordable 
housing.

› Twitter and Facebook were 
added to Yarra’s customer 
service platform. This has 
expanded options for 
residents and ratepayers  
to contact our customer 
service team. 

› A continuous quality 
improvement framework  
was trialled for branches 
undertaking a Service  
Review to make systems  
and processes more efficient 
and effective.

› A successful Council election 
was held, followed by a 
comprehensive induction 
process.

03   
  Yarra maintains more than 
120 parks and gardens, 
including 35 playgrounds.

04      Yarra conducts up to 100 
community consultations 
annually to inform decision 
making.
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Looking ahead

Our new four-year plan, Yarra 
Council Plan 2017–2021, which 
was adopted in August 2017, 
has seven Strategic Objectives. 

Objective 1: A healthy Yarra 
– a place where community 
health, safety and wellbeing are 
a focus in everything we do. 

Objective 2: An inclusive Yarra 
– a place where inclusion, 
diversity and uniqueness are 
welcomed, respected and 
celebrated.

Objective 3: A sustainable Yarra 
– a place where Council leads on 
sustainability and protects and 
enhances its natural 
environment.

Objective 4: A liveable Yarra 
– a place where development 
and growth are managed to 
maintain and enhance the 
character and heritage of the 
city.

Objective 5: A prosperous Yarra 
– a place where local businesses 
prosper and creative and 
knowledge industries thrive.

Objective 6: A connected Yarra 
– a place where connectivity 
and travel options are 
environmentally sustainable, 
integrated and well-designed. 

Objective 7: A leading Yarra 
– a place where transparency, 
performance and community 
participation drive the way we 
operate.

Much loved Richmond local and activist Nancy Peck.
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1. New Parks 
  We will continue to increase 

the amount and quality of 
green open space through 
the strategic acquisition of 
land, the conversion of urban 
land to open space and/or 
the creation of pocket parks 
in high-density areas.

2. Stolen Generations  
Marker project

  We will complete the Stolen 
Generations Marker project in 
partnership with the local 
aboriginal community, in 
particular members of the 
Stolen Generation.

3. Reduction in organic waste
  We will investigate, 

implement and promote 
initiatives to divert organic 
waste from landfill. This will 
begin with a pilot program to 
reduce organic waste 
through diversion programs.

4. Activity Centre  
Structure Plans

  We will continue to develop 
structure plans for Yarra’s 
major activity centres that 
build on the unique character 
of each precinct.

5. Development  
Contributions Plan 

  We will prepare a Planning 
Scheme Amendment to 
implement a Development 
Contributions Plan, which will 
be used to collect payments 
towards the provision of 
infrastructure triggered by new 
development.

6. Live music support 
  We will continue to support live 

music in Yarra through 
advocacy, grants, funding and 
partnerships.

7. Yarra Spatial Economic 
Employment Strategy

  We will prepare the Yarra 
Spatial Economic and 
Employment Strategy to guide 
Yarra’s long-term capacity for 
employment and economic 
growth.

8. Wellington Street  
Bike Lane (Stage 2) 

  We will complete construction 
of the Wellington Street Bike 
Lane (Copenhagen style) to 
Johnston Street.

9. Traffic management initiatives
  We will continue to provide low 

speed environments and 
community education for 
pedestrians, cyclists, motor-
cyclists and vehicle drivers and 
passengers.

10. Services Policy
  We will develop the Services 

Policy to guide the types of 
services and service levels we 
provide. This will be informed 
by a participatory/deliberative 
engagement process.

10 of the actions we have planned for 2017/18

13Yarra City Council 
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Mayor’s 
message

This year’s Annual Report 
covers the fourth and final 
year of our Council Plan 
2013–17. I’m pleased to say 
that we finished on a high 
note, completing 83% of our 
Annual Plan Activities and 
meeting 85% of our 
strategic indicator targets 
for the year. 

Our average Annual Plan 
completion rate throughout 
the life of this Council Plan 
was 81%, which compares 
favourably to the 67% we 
recorded during the previous 
four-year period. Our latest 
result is a strong reflection of 
our ongoing commitment to 
accountability and 
continuous improvement.

This year we delivered 185 
important services to the 
community, demonstrating 
once again that local 
government is about much 
more than roads, rates and 
rubbish.

A voice for the 
community 
When a big issue is having an 
impact on members of our 
community, we have a legislative 
responsibility to show leadership 
and advocate on their behalf. 

Over the past year we have taken 
a leadership position on some 
issues of critical importance to our 
community, including the need for 
a medically supervised injection 
facility to tackle the high number 
of overdose deaths occurring in 
Richmond and surrounding 
suburbs. 

Another example was our strong 
support for marriage equality, 
resolving to fly the Rainbow Flag 
at our each of our town halls until 
the Marriage Act is changed to 
recognise the rights of our LGTBIQ 
community. 

We also continued to work with 
the Yarra Riverkeeper and 
community groups to highlight the 
need for better protections for the 
Yarra River Corridor. Our clear and 
consistent advocacy was 
rewarded, with the state 
government announcing a 
landmark Yarra River Action Plan. 

Listening and learning 
Our positions on the issues 
affecting our community are 
informed by an unwavering 
commitment to local consultation 
and engagement. 

This year we heard from more than 
4000 people across more than 30 
engagement projects. Community 
members provided feedback 
in-person at our pop-up sessions 
and scheduled workshops, via our 
Your Say Yarra website, or via 
more traditional methods such  
as email and post. 

Major consultations included our 
Council Plan and Budget, Urban 
Forest Strategy, Reimagining 
Victoria Street, Bridge Road 
Streetscape Masterplan, Rose 
Street Feet First Project, and 
upgrades to Darling, Langdon, 
McConchie and Wangaratta 
reserves.

Celebrating Yarra’s 
achievers  
Every year we use our awards 
program to highlight the ways 
that local people and 
organisations are enriching the 
life of our city. 

I was thrilled to present our 2017 
Citizen of the Year Award to 
Lachlan Mosley. The Richmond 
father of seven was recognised for 
his work with young people, 
including driving the establishment 
of girls teams at the Richmond 
Junior Football Club and 
Richmond Union Cricket Club.

Congratulations also to Kerry 
Walker and Antoinette Braybrook 
(our Inspirational Women of Yarra 
Award winners), Riyadh Aden 
(Young Citizen of the Year), Jeff 
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Lowinger and Sally Clarke 
(Community Service of the Year) 
and The Gertrude Street Projection 
Festival (Community Event of the 
Year), as well as to the seven 
winners of our annual 
Sustainability Awards.

Thank you 
A new council was elected in 
October 2016. 

I have greatly appreciated the 
energy and enthusiasm shown by 
my new and returning colleagues, 
and I’m proud of all that we have 
accomplished in 2016/17. I would 
also like to acknowledge the 
service of the five Councillors 
whose terms concluded at the last 
election. Their work over the past 
four years has resulted in many 
great outcomes for our 
community. 

Thanks also to everyone 
responsible for implementing our 
ambitious and innovative Council 
Plan, including our dynamic CEO 
Vijaya Vaidyanath and our highly 
skilled workforce. Most of all I’d like 
to thank our community members 
for inspiring us with their creative 
ideas, local knowledge and 
irrepressible passion for Yarra. 

Cr Amanda Stone, 
Mayor
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Chief 
Executive 
Officer’s 
message

Getting the basics right
Our commitment to core service 
delivery was recently highlighted 
in Metropolis Research’s 
independent survey of 1,050  
Yarra households. 

Our top performing services 
included rubbish collection (8.7 
out of 10), services for families  
and children (8.7), swimming  
pools (8.6) and local libraries (8.5), 
while our most improved services 
included road maintenance, street 
trees, and parks and gardens.

The annual survey found that in 
2016, the average satisfaction with 
a majority of everyday Council 
services and facilities to be 7.9, 
which is categorised as ‘excellent’. 
Yarra’s overall performance was 
higher than the averages for 
Metropolitan Melbourne and Inner 
Melbourne.

Yarra’s performance was also rated 
‘good’ to ‘very good’ in the following 
key categories: responsibility to the 
environment, consultation and 
engagement, responsiveness to 
community needs, maintaining trust 
and confidence, representation and 
advocacy, and making decisions in 
the interests of the community.

Beyond rate revenue
This year the state government 
capped rate increases at 2.5% and 
we elected not to apply for an 
exemption, focusing instead on 
innovation and financial restraint. 
We continued to review our 
operations throughout the year to 
ensure that we are delivering the 
most important services and 
providing the best value for  
money for the community. 

As we journey deeper into the  
rate capping era, it’s vital that we 
continue to identify alternative 
funding opportunities and reduce 
our reliance on rate revenue. A key 
priority of our advocacy program 
during 2016/17 was to obtain 
funding from other sources 
including state and federal 
governments. A great deal of 
research and advocacy goes into 
each of our successful grant 
applications, and I’m pleased to 
say that we secured more than 
$2.6m in grant commitments 
during this period.

This year’s highlights included 
$1.8m for various traffic 
infrastructure improvements  
from the federal government’s 
Infrastructure Investment Black 
Spot Programme, $249,665 for  
the development of a Victoria 
Street Streetscape Masterplan 
from the Department of Justice 
and Regulation’s Public Safety 
Infrastructure Fund, and $30,000 
for our annual Leaps and Bounds 
Music Festival from Creative 
Victoria. 

Celebrating our 
achievements
My team is 100% focused on 
delivering exemplary outcomes for 
the Yarra community, and it is 
always pleasing when these efforts 
are formally acknowledged. Our 
work was celebrated with a range 
of awards during 2016/17. Here are 
some highlights:

› Yarra received a prestigious 
United Nations Association of 
Australia World Environment 
Action Award in the category  
of Local Government Climate 
Action.

Welcome to Yarra City 
Council’s Annual Report 
2016/17. This has been 
another year of significant 
wins for Yarra and also a 
period marked by difficult 
challenges. This is our 
second budget under  
the new rate capping 
environment with an 
unprecedented level of 
financial restraint. Given 
the ongoing pressures our 
staff delivered an excellent 
83% completion of our 
Council Plan and Annual 
Plan commitments for the 
year.
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› Our commitment to workplace 
health and safety was 
acknowledged with a Leadership 
in the Public Sector Award for 
Risk Management from the 
Institute of Public Administration 
Australia (IPAA).

› Our program to upskill our  
staff on LGTBIQ inclusivity was 
recognised with an LGPro Award 
in the Diversity and Inclusion 
category. 

› We received the national Keep 
Australia Beautiful Sustainable 
Cities Award in the Community 
Action and Wellbeing category. 
At the state level, we received 
three honours, including 
Sustainable City of the Year.

› Our commitment to serving  
our diverse communities  
was recognised at Victoria’s 
Multicultural Awards for 
Excellence 2016 in the Local 
Government category. 

› Council won a Resilient  
Australia Award (Victoria)  
in the Government category for 
increasing awareness of 
heatwaves in migrant 
communities living in public 
housing.

› Our Senior Advisor Emergency 
and Risk Management was 
acknowledged with a SACS 
Leadership Award in the Local 
Government Non-Executive 
category. 

› Our Manager Leisure Services 
received the Most Outstanding 
Contribution in the Aquatics 
Industry at the Aquatics 
Recreation Victoria Awards. 

Vijaya Vaidyanath, 
Chief Executive Officer

Thank you
I’d like to conclude by thanking our 
Mayor and Councillors for their 
guidance, energy and support over 
the past 12 months, as well as our 
staff who passionately deliver 
services every day that result in 
high-quality outcomes for our 
community. 
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Chief 
Financial 
Officer’s 
report

The following pages provide 
a summary of Council’s 
financial activities over the 
past year, from 1 July 2016 
to 30 June 2017. 

Council’s financial 
performance for the year 
focused on achieving the 
objectives of the Council 
Plan 2013–17. Financial 
performance into the future 
is guided by both the current 
Council Plan 2017–21 and the 
Long Term Financial 
Strategy. Ensuring financial 
sustainability and the 
maintenance and 
improvement of 
infrastructure assets, 
enhancing quality services 
and outcomes to the 
community, along with and 
achieving of future operating 
surpluses, are key 
considerations. Full financials 
available in the Financial 
Statements section.

Financial snapshot
› 180.7 million revenue in 2016/17 

compared to $170.9 million in 
2015/16.

› $17.5 million operating surplus in 
2016/17 compared to $10 million 
in 2015/16.

› $34.3 million capital works 
program in 2016/17 compared  
to $30.6 million in 2015/16.

› $1.685 billion in assets in 2016/17 
compared to $1.671 billion in 
2015/16.

› $101.5 million in rates and 
charges (56.1% of income) in 
2016/17 compared to $97.9 
million (57.3% in 2015/16). 

› $34.1 million in cash holdings  
in 2016/17 compared to $22.5 
million in 2015/16.

› Debt of $46 million (including 
$13.5 million to fund the 
Bargoonga Nganjin, North 
Fitzroy Library) in 2016/17 
compared to $32.5 million  
in 2015/16.

Operating result
The 2016/17 Annual Financial 
Statements reflect an operating 
surplus of $17.5 million. This result 
represents a favourable variance of 
$12.45 million to the adopted 
budgeted result of $5.05 million 
surplus. This is the accrual 
accounting result, prepared in 
accordance with the Australian 
Accounting Standards, it is not a 
surplus cash result. The operating 
result includes non-cash items 
such as depreciation. For Council’s 
cash result, please refer to the cash 
flow statement.

Operating revenue of $180.7  
million was $4.5 million favourable 
compared to the budget of $176.2 
million. The major favourable 
components were user fees, and 
operating and capital grants; offset 
in part by less than expected 
parking revenue. 

Some of the additional grant 
revenue was received in advance 
for 2017/18 and is required to be 
utilised this financial year.

Operating expenditure of $163.2 
million was $7.9 million favourable 
to the budget of $171.1 million. This 
was mainly due to savings on 
depreciation and materials and 
services, including legal fees. Some 
of the savings on materials and 
services will be required to be 
utilised this financial year. For 
example, for grant-funded 
programs where the funding has 
not been spent by the end of the 
financial year, these savings will 
need to be carried over into 
2017/18 so the grant funds can be 
spent and fully acquitted. 

The full income statement is found 
in the Financial Statements 
section.

Net results 2012/13 to 2016/17

2012/13 
$000s

2013/14 
$000s

2014/15 
$000s

2015/16 
$000s

2016/17 
$000s

Revenue 144,663 157,326 164,462 170,910 180,679

Expenses 137,434 144,653 154,527 160,901 163,173

Net result 7,229 12,673 9,935 10,009 17,506
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Equity
Council continued to build its 
equity and increase its overall 
value over the last financial year 
to $1.65 billion. This is mainly due 
to the surplus for the year. 

Cash
Cash levels increased due to 
borrowings taken up towards the 
end of the financial year. The full 
statement of cash flows can be 
found in the Financial 
Statements section.

Balance Sheet
Council increased total equity 
during the year by $17.5 million. 
Refer to the Financial Statements 
section for the full Balance Sheet.

$000s

Balance at the beginning of year         1,637,562

Surplus for the year              17,506

Net reserves movement (incl. revaluation) 44

Balance at end of financial year         1,655,112

Year-end balance 2016/17

$000s

Net cash provided by operating activities             32,988

Net cash used in investing activities (33,369)

Net cash provided by financing activities 11,989 

Net increase in cash held 11,608

Cash at the beginning of the financial year 22,544

Cash at the end of the financial year 34,152

Year-end cash position 2016/17

$000s

Current assets (incl. cash assets $34.1m) 48,848

Non-current assets 1,685,274

Total assets 1,734,122

Current liabilities 32,434

Non-current liabilities 46,576

Total liabilities 79,010

NET ASSETS 1,655,112

Accumulated surplus 598,773

Reserves 1,056,339

EQUITY 1,655,112

Summary Balance Sheet 2016/17

The net result is Council’s operating result comprising 
operating revenue less operating expenditure.  
It includes non-cash items, such as depreciation  
and accrual accounting items, and is therefore not a 
cash surplus. Council’s cash movements are reported 
in the Cash Flow Statement. 

Council’s actual cash has restrictions placed on it for 
future committed purposes such as trust funds and 
deposit returns, carry forward capital works and 
developer contributions received.
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Chief Financial 
Officer’s report

Capital Works Program
Council delivered a $34.3 million 
capital works program, including: 
$15 million on buildings, $14.8 
million on infrastructure such as 
roads, footpaths, drainage, and 
open space/recreational facilities, 
and $4.5 million on plant, 
technology and other assets. Refer 
to the Financial Statements section 
for more detail on Council’s capital 
works program.

Financial Statements
Council’s financial statements 
detail the total financial 
transactions and activities for  
the year and also provide an 
overview of Council’s financial 
position. The financial report 
includes five major financial 
statements: the Comprehensive 
Income Statement, the Balance 
Sheet, the Statement of Changes 
in Equity, the Statement of Cash 
Flows, and the Capital Works 
Statement. Refer to the Financial 
Statements section for full details.

Comprehensive  
Income Statement
Major categories of both income 
and expenditure to determine the 
surplus (or deficit) for the year are 
included in the Comprehensive 
Income Statement. The operating 
surplus for 2016/17 (income less 
expenditure) is $17.506 million. 
Total operating income of $180.68 
million was achieved and total 
operating expenditure of $163.17 
million was incurred. Major income 
categories include rates and 
charges, statutory fees and fines, 
user fees, government grants, 
contributions and reimbursements. 
The following table details the 
composition of Council’s $180.68 
million total operating income for 
2016/17.

Income by category 2016/17

Income by category Income ($000s) %

Rates and charges 101,482 56.1

Statutory fees and fines 26,929 14.9

User fees 27,582 15.3

Government grants 16,338 9.0

Contributions 5,888 3.3

Net gain/(loss) on disposal  
of non-current assets 563 0.3

Other income 1,897 1.1

Total 180,679                100
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Expenditure by category 2016/17

Expenditure by category $000s %

Employee costs 78,003 47.8

Materials and services 60,218 36.9

Bad and doubtful debts 2,392 1.5

Depreciation 20,347 12.5

Borrowing costs 1,605 1.0

Other expenses (e.g. auditors’ fees, 
Councillors’ allowances) 608 0.3

Total 163,173 100

Expenditure by category
The majority of Council’s 
expenditure relates to direct 
service delivery. Major expenditure 
categories include employee costs, 
materials and services, bad/
doubtful debts, depreciation, and 
borrowing costs. The following 
table details the allocation of 
Council’s $163.17 million total 
operating expenditure for 2016/17.

Balance Sheet
Council’s Balance Sheet (see  
the Financial Statements section) 
shows what Council owns (its 
assets) and what it owes (its 
liabilities) and its net worth.  
The major components of assets 
include property (land and 
buildings), infrastructure assets 
(roads, footpaths, drains) plant 
and equipment, cash and 
investments and debtors. As at 
30 June 2017, Council held $1,734 
million in assets, an increase on 
the previous year of $26 million.

Liabilities
Council’s liabilities include amounts 
owed to suppliers, employee leave 
entitlements and debt. As at 30 
June 2017, Council’s liabilities total 
$79 million, which is an increase of 
$8 million on the previous year. 

Increased debt in 2016/17 reflects a 
loan taken to support the building 
of Bargoonga Nganjin, North 
Fitzroy Library.

Council assets 2012/13 to 2016/17

2012/13 
$000s

2013/14 
$000s

2014/15 
$000s

2015/16 
$000s

2016/17 
$000s

Assets 1,479,576 1,534,760 1,605,856 1,708,562 1,734,122

Other liabilities and debt 2012/13 to 2016/17

2012/13 
$000s

2013/14 
$000s

2014/15 
$000s

2015/16 
$000s

2016/17 
$000s

Other 
liabilities 31,338 33,281 35,279 38,501 33,010

Debt 13,137 32,500 32,500 32,500 46,000
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Statement of  
Changes in Equity
The Statement of Changes  
in Equity (see the Financial 
Statements section) details the 
changes in Council’s retained 
earnings, including reserves 
movement, over the reporting 
period. Council’s equity as at 30 
June 2017 is $1.65 billion, which is 
an increase of $17.5 million during 
the year due to the surplus on 
operations and minor asset 
revaluation.

Statement of  
Cash Flows
The cash flow statement  
(see the Financial Statements 
section) details Council’s cash 
inflows and outflows for the 
year. Council’s cash balance as 
at 30 June 2017 is $34.1 million, 
which increased by $11 million 
on the previous year due to 
loan borrowings taken up for 
capital works. This cash 
balance will be utilised to meet 
Council’s current liabilities, as 
well as covering carry-forward 
capital works and grants 
received in advance. 

Council equity 2012/13 to 2016/17

2012/13 
$000s

2013/14 
$000s

2014/15 
$000s

2015/16 
$000s

2016/17 
$000s

Community 
equity 1,435,101 1,468,981 1,538,077 1,637,561 1,655,112

Cash balance 2012/13 to 2016/17

2012/13 
$000s

2013/14 
$000s

2014/15 
$000s

2015/16 
$000s

2016/17 
$000s

Cash balance 18,918 21,719 22,435 22,544 34,152

Audit opinion
The Victorian Auditor General has 
given Council a clear audit opinion 
and expressed that the 2016/17 
statements present fairly

Future directions
Council will continue to provide 
cost-effective, high quality, 
accessible services to the 
community while driving efficiencies 
to improve financial sustainability. 

Future funding options to provide 
appropriate cash levels to maintain 
extensive operational and capital 
expenditure programs will be 
the initial focus as part of the 
long-term financial strategy review. 
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Council and community 
advocacy paid o� when the 
State Government announced 
new planning protections 
for the Yarra River corridor.
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Capital 
works 

Yarra’s capital works 
program is our investment 
in our city and our 
community. 

It provides new community 
infrastructure and renewal 
or upgrade of existing 
infrastructure. 

The adopted 2016/17 capital 
works budget was $42.05 
million across 310 projects. 
This budget was adjusted 
throughout the year to 
$36.61 million to reflect 
changes in the program.

As at the end of June, 
there were 295 capital 
works projects completed 
(95% of number of budgeted 
projects), with actual 
expenditure of $34.27 
million (81% of budgeted 
expenditure). Compared 
to the adjusted budget 
of $36.61 million, the result 
is 94%. 

Capital works summary 2016/17

Seniors Week 
planting activities.

$000s

Buildings 15,053

Roads, footpaths, kerb and channel constructions, 
drains, cycleways 11,359

Open space improvements 3,389

Information systems 2,231

Plant and equipment and other 1,585

Library resources 662

Total 34,279
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Capital works highlights 2016/17

Buildings and facilities $000s

Bargoonga Nganjin, North Fitzroy Library construction 9,007

Richmond Recreation Centre renovations 1,117

Collingwood Town Hall roof restoration 989

Fitzroy Swimming Pool change rooms renovations 726

Fitzroy Town Hall roof restoration 484

Collingwood Leisure Centre works 392

Collingwood Seniors Centre/Willowview Centre works 305

Yarra Community Youth Centre renovations 233

Open space $000s

Shared pathway – Merri Creek Trail to Coulson Reserve 737

Williams Reserve works 476

Yarra Primary School works and Joint Use Agreement 348

Kevin Bartlett Reserve – Fletcher soccer grounds 202

Mayors Park tennis court resurfacing 139

Scullin Walk works 120

Civic and culture $000s

Library resources 662

Edinburgh Gardens war memorial restoration 51

Roads and drains $000s

49 road pavement renewal projects 3,027

Various local area traffic management and transport projects 2,648

45 footpath renewal projects 1,955

13 drainage renewal/upgrade projects 1,324

13 right-of-way (lanes) renewal projects 958

11 kerb and channel renewal projects 580

9 tree root barrier treatments 415

Targeted Disability Discrimination Act infrastructure upgrades to improve accessibility 175
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Citizen of the Year Lachlan 
Mosley was recognised for 
his work with young people 
at the Richmond Junior 
Football Club and Richmond 
Union Cricket Club.
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Capital works spotlight
As part of this years’ capital works program we have 
invested in four projects that will contribute to the 
health and wellbeing of our community, and one 
that will support our businesses and residents alike.

Bargoonga Nganjin, 
North Fitzroy Library 
construction 
2016/17 expenditure: $9,007,000

The Bargoonga Nganjin, North 
Fitzroy Library facility was 
successfully completed and 
opened on 8 April, bringing to 
fruition a state-of-the-art 
community facility and realising  
a long-held dream of the local 
community.

Over three levels, Bargoonga 
Nganjin is home to a library, 
maternal child health service, 
playgroup spaces, Council 
customer service centre, 
community meeting rooms, 
exhibition space and a spectacular 
roof top garden.

Bargoonga Nganjin has a six star 
Green Star rating – the highest 
environmental rating awarded by 
the Green Building Council of 
Australia. It also incorporates a 
range of best-practice universal 
access provisions throughout the 
facility, which provide for the 
needs of people with a disability, 
including a Changing Places facility 
that meets the requirements of the 
internationally recognised 
standard.

Leisure centres 
renovation
2016/17 expenditure: $2,285,000 

Major renovation works were 
undertaken across Yarra’s three 
leisure centres to upgrade assets 
for compliance with the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1992 and to 
improve the amenity and customer 
experience of the facilities. Also 
included was the replacement of 
mechanical plant/equipment and 
renewal of flooring and internal 
paint finishes.

This program of works included a 
major renovation of the wet-side 
change rooms at the Richmond 
Recreation Centre and stage one 
renovation (male change rooms)  
at the Fitzroy Swimming Pool,  
with completion of stage two 
renovation (female change rooms) 
at that facility to follow in 2017/18.
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Yarra Primary School 
open space – joint school 
and community use
2016/17 expenditure: $348,000

A new open space for school and 
community use has been 
developed on the existing school 
grounds at Yarra Primary School as 
part of a Joint Use Agreement 
between Yarra City Council and 
the school.

Features of the new open space 
include:

› a new rain garden and nature 
play areas

› parkour facilities
› table tennis area
› games area with hopscotch and 

a maze

› BBQ and picnic settings
› improved and expanded turf 

mound
The school’s existing playground 
area and synthetic sports surfaces 
were retained, along with all of the 
trees on the site. 

The park is open for community 
use from 7am to 8am and after 
5pm on school days, and all day  
on weekends and holidays.

New parking technology 
2016/17 expenditure: $323,000

Council invested in a suite of new 
technology to support parking 
operations.

A key part of this project is the 
installation of underground sensors 
in unmetered time-restricted 
parking bays in high-demand and 
highly contested parking areas. 
This new technology encourages 
drivers to comply with time 
restrictions, creating more free 
bays for residents in residential 
areas and customers in commercial 
areas.

A total of 1750 sensors were 
installed up to June, with about 

4,000 sensors ultimately to be 
rolled out. These will be located 
primarily in Richmond and 
Cremorne, as well as in other 
high-demand areas.

The project also involves the 
implementation of new 
infringement processing 
technology in both the field and 
the office to support effective and 
efficient parking compliance 
operations.

Lastly, a new PayStay solution for 
paid parking was also rolled out, 
making payment of parking fees 
via smartphone more convenient.
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Your 
investment 
in Yarra

Your rates provide vital  
Council services that help 
improve your neighbourhood 
and create a healthy, vibrant 
and connected community. 
These are:

Family, youth and 
children’s services 
Maternal and child health, family 
and support services, community 
planning and advocacy, childcare, 
kindergarten, playgroup and youth 
services.

Aged and disability 
services
Community care services and 
community transport for older 
people.

Leisure, arts,  
culture and venues
Three leisure centres and the 
Burnley Golf Course, community 
meeting spaces, public art and 
festivals such as Leaps and Bounds 
and Gertrude Street Projection 
Festival.

Library services 
Five library locations across Yarra, 
creative activities and events for 
the community.

Parks and recreation 
Maintenance of open spaces, 
including 120 parks and 35 
playgrounds, street tree planting 
and sports field allocation to clubs.

Strategic transport  
and sustainability 
Bicycle and pedestrian 
infrastructure, advocacy for public 
transport improvements, reduction 
in energy consumption and waste.

Compliance,  
parking and traffic
Animal management local laws, 
food safety, parking enforcement 
and traffic studies.

Waste and recycling
Rubbish and recycling, hard and 
green waste, street cleaning, 
graffiti removal, litter, dumped 
rubbish, weed control and drain 
maintenance.

Infrastructure and  
asset management
Management and maintenance of 
community buildings and facilities, 
roads, drains, footpaths.

Construction 
management 
Building and other safety permits, 
monitoring of major developments, 
protection of local amenity and 
24/7 emergency call out to assist 
the community.

Strategic and  
statutory planning
Yarra planning scheme review, 
urban design frameworks, planning 
permit applications, planning and 
heritage advice, and VCAT 
advocacy.

Customer service 
Four customer service centres, 
telephone call centre, after-hours 
service and 170,000 community 
requests processed annually.
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Advocacy, engagement 
and communications
Up to 100 community 
consultations per year, advocacy 
on key strategic issues, print and 
website publications, social media 
and communications.

Finance, performance 
and risk
Long-term financial planning, 
annual budgeting, financial 
management, performance 
reporting, auditing, risk 
management and emergency 
management.

Governance 
Two Council meetings per month, 
Council agendas and minutes, 
records management, freedom of 
information and privacy and legal 
expenses for a range of matters 
such as planning, compliance and 
construction management.

Administrative 
support services
Human resources, organisational 
development, innovation, 
computer and telecommunication 
support across all Council services. 

Group fitness activity at 
Richmond Recreation Centre.
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Organisational 
Structure

Council staff
Current at 30 June 2017

Chief Executive Officer
Vijaya Vaidyanath

Director Corporate, 
Business &  
Financial Services
Andrew Day

Director Community 
Wellbeing
Chris Leivers

Director City 
Works And Assets
Guy Wilson-Browne

Chief Financial 
Officer

Manager Aged  
& Disability Services

Manager  
Building Assets

Manager Corporate 
Planning & 
Performance

Unit Manager Arts, 
Culture & Venues

Manager 
City Works

Manager Compliance 
& Parking

Manager Family, 
Youth & Children’s 
Services

Manager 
Construction

Manager Leisure 
Services

Manager 
Library Services

Manager 
Engineering  
& Asset 
Management

Manager Innovation
Manager Traffic  
& Special Projects

Unit Manager Risk, 
Audit & Procurement
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Director Planning 
& Place Making
Bruce Phillips

Assistant  
Director Planning 
& Place Making
Jane Waldock

Director Advocacy 
& Engagement
Joanne Murdoch

Group 
Manager 
CEO Office
Ivan Gilbert

Group Manager 
People, Culture  
& Community
Fred Warner

Manager 
Recreation  
& Open Space

Unit Manager 
Sustainability

Manager 
Customer Service

Coordinator 
Corporate 
Records

Unit Manager 
Community 
Partnerships

Manager  
City Strategy

Coordinator 
Strategic 
Transport

Unit Manager 
Advocacy, 
Engagement  
& Media

Senior 
Governance 
Advisor

Coordinator 
Engagement  
& Inclusion

Manager  
Statutory  
Planning

Coordinator 
Waste 
Minimisation

Coordinator 
Communications – 
Digital & Brand

Coordinator  
Office Of Mayor  
& Councillors

Coordinator 
Human Resource 
Services

Unit Manager 
Property Services

Unit Manager 
Occupational 
Health & Safety

Coordinator 
Organisational 
Development

Unit Manager 
People & Strategy
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Council staff Executive 
Management Team

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chief Executive Officer is 
responsible for the implementation 
and maintenance of Council’s 
policies. As the primary conduit 
between Yarra’s elected Council 
and its workforce, Vijaya ensures 
that the organisation’s day-to-day 
activities are in alignment with its 
long-term strategic objectives. 
The Chief Executive Officer 
provides high-level advice to 
Councillors and acts on behalf of 
the organisation in a range of 
contexts. She is ultimately 
responsible for all services 
provided by the Council.

DIRECTOR CORPORATE, 
BUSINESS AND FINANCE

The Corporate, Business and 
Finance Division is responsible for 
managing Council’s financial 
performance and long-term 
financial sustainability. It is also 
responsible for key corporate 
planning processes and information 
systems, along with providing 
innovation, strategic procurement 
and risk management support to 
the organisation, as well as business 
continuity and emergency 
management coordination. 
Externally the division manages 
local laws compliance, and parking 
enforcement and administration 
services. 

Vijaya 
Vaidyanath

Andrew 
Day
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GROUP MANAGER
CEO’S OFFICE

Ivan oversees the Governance 
Support Unit, the Mayor and 
Councillors Office, the Records 
Branch and Property Services, and 
also assists the Chief Executive 
Officer. Areas of responsibility 
include organising council meetings 
business, facilitating legal advice, 
and maintaining the Policy 
Management Framework. Ivan is 
also responsible for processing 
Protected Disclosure matters in 
association with IBAC, Freedom of 
Information and State Ombudsman 
inquiries, maintenance of Council’s 
Public Register and Instruments of 
Delegation. The Group Manager 
Chief Executive’s Office also fills the 
role of Internal Ombudsman.

DIRECTOR COMMUNITY 
WELLBEING

The Community Wellbeing Division 
enhances community wellbeing 
through policy development, 
service delivery, community 
planning and partnerships. Chris 
oversees activities focussed on 
community participation, through 
services and activities related to 
leisure, libraries, senior citizens, 
children, young people and 
families, arts, culture, venues, 
access and inclusion. Chris also 
has responsibility for Emergency 
Management as the Municipal 
Recovery Manager and his 
divisional responsibilities include 
project sponsorship for major 
community infrastructure 
initiatives.

DIRECTOR ADVOCACY 
AND ENGAGEMENT

Jo is responsible for customer 
service, internal and external 
communications, stakeholder 
engagement, issues management, 
strategic advocacy, media 
relations, design, corporate brand 
and publications, digital 
communications (including 
website and social media) and 
civic events. She is also the Chair 
of Yarra’s staff Gender Equity 
Committee and a sponsor of a 
number of cross-organisational 
projects.

Ivan 
Gilbert

Chris 
Leivers

Joanne 
Murdoch
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DIRECTOR PLANNING 
AND PLACE MAKING

The services provided by the 
Planning and Place Making 
Division are designed to protect 
and enhance Yarra’s physical, 
social and economic environment. 
Bruce oversees activities related 
to economic development, 
environmental management and 
advocacy, urban design, parks, 
gardens and recreation, statutory 
and strategic planning and 
sustainable transport. Bruce also 
has responsibility in implementing 
the Inner Melbourne Action Plan.

DIRECTOR CITY 
WORKS AND ASSETS

Guy is responsible for the provision 
and maintenance of public 
infrastructure in the City of Yarra. 
As Director City Works and Assets, 
he oversees roads and footpaths, 
asset management, construction 
management, and recycling and 
waste, along with a range of other 
activities related to the 
management of buildings and 
property. He is responsible for the 
implementation of Council’s annual 
capital works program.

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR 
PLANNING AND
PLACE MAKING

Jane’s primary area of 
responsibility is the Sustainability 
and Strategic Transport branch, 
which includes the Environment, 
Waste Minimisation, Urban 
Agriculture and Strategic 
Transport units. These teams 
undertake advocacy and 
engagement projects as well as 
initiating and delivering transport 
and environmental capital works 
programs. Jane also manages 
Council’s relationship with the 
Yarra Energy Foundation.

Bruce 
Phillips

Guy Wilson-
Browne

Jane 
Waldock

Executive Management 
Team (cont.)
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GROUP MANAGER 
PEOPLE, CULTURE 
AND COMMUNITY

Fred is responsible for 
organisational development, 
recruitment and diversity, culture 
and leadership, employee and 
industrial relations, occupational 
health and safety, and 
management of WorkCover. 
Fred is also responsible for 
community partnerships, 
Aboriginal and multicultural 
affairs, community grants, 
housing and homelessness, and 
community safety.

Fred 
Warner

Popular DJ Katie Pearson in 
front of the Keith Haring Mural 
in Collingwood.
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Council staff

Workforce positions at 
30 June 2017
At 30 June 2017, Council had a 
total of 837.92 equivalent full-time 
positions (which includes 
temporary and casual positions)

Equivalent Full Time workforce positions by seniority and gender 2016/17  
(including casual and temporary positions)

Structure Band  
1

Band  
2

Band  
3

Band  
4

Band  
5

Band  
6

Band  
7

Band  
8

All 
other Total

Classification FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Permanent FT - F 0.00 1.00 34.50 58.50 67.00 63.30 32.80 28.50 23.50 309.10

Permanent FT - M 0.00 0.00 39.50 31.50 44.00 59.30 39.00 34.50 33.50 281.30

Permanent PT - F 0.26 4.14 30.41 23.15 15.77 13.87 6.33 2.23 13.08 109.23

Permanent PT - M 0.52 2.42 23.95 16.28 5.55 2.14 1.10 0.00 3.50 55.45

Temporary – Female 0.00 0.21 1.00 1.84 3.52 1.61 1.50 1.30 1.00 11.98

Temporary – Male 0.00 0.21 1.00 0.42 1.83 2.61 0.50 0.50 1.00 8.07

Casual – Female 5.11 0.51 15.38 7.34 0.21 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.85 31.40

Casual - Male 5.11 0.51 15.38 7.34 0.21 0.00 0.00 1.00 1.85 31.40

TOTAL 11.00 9.00 161.12 146.37 138.07 142.83 81.23 69.03 79.27 837.92
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Employment type/gender

Permanent FT - F 11.50 45.60 30.00 153.00 42.50 18.50 8.00 309.10

Permanent FT - M 5.50 37.80 98.00 57.00 65.50 8.50 9.00 281.30

Permanent PT - F 1.42 5.25 2.60 82.84 6.47 6.77 3.88 109.23

Permanent PT - M 0.00 2.51 1.64 38.73 8.51 3.27 0.80 55.45

Temporary – Female 0.60 2.22 3.02 2.83 1.71 1.40 0.20 11.98

Temporary – Male 0.00 0.80 4.02 1.54 1.71 0.00 0.00 8.07

Casual – Female 0.04 0.50 0.50 23.47 5.29 1.61 0.00 31.40

Casual - Male 0.04 0.50 0.50 23.47 5.29 1.61 0.00 31.40

TOTAL 19.10 95.18 140.28 382.87 136.96 41.65 21.88 837.92

Equivalent Full Time workforce 
positions by division and gender 
2016/17 (includes casuals and 
temporary positions)

* As at 30 June 2017 
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Performance 
report

The Local Government Act 
1989 requires each council 
to adopt and report against 
a four-year Council Plan, 
which sets out the medium-
term direction of Council 
and the outcomes sought by 
Councillors for their term. 

The plan must include 
Strategic Objectives, 
Strategies, Strategic 
Indicators and a Strategic 
Resource Plan. The 
following report reflects 
year four (2016/17) of the 
Council Plan 2013–17. 

Council produces an Annual 
Plan alongside each year’s 
Budget, setting out projects 
and activities that Council 
will undertake towards 
achieving the Strategic 
Objectives.

Leading artists prepare for Yarra’s  
annual Leaps and Bounds music festival.
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Strategic Objectives
The Council Plan 2013–17 is 
divided into five directions 
known as Strategic Objectives:

› Celebrating Yarra’s Uniqueness
› Supporting Yarra’s Community
› Making Yarra More Liveable
› Ensuring a Sustainable Yarra
› Leading Local Government

Strategies
Each Strategic Objective is 
supported by Strategies, which 
identify the focus for the next 
four years. 

Activities 
Activities represent the work 
undertaken by Council in pursuit 
of Strategic Objectives and 
Strategies. 

Drawn from Initiatives in the 
Council Plan 2013–17 and Actions 
in and the Annual Plan 2016/17, 
Activities provide a framework 
for measuring Council’s progress 
towards each Strategic 
Objective.

Strategic indicators
Strategic Indicators provide a 
second framework for measuring 
Council’s progress towards each 
Strategic Objective.

Service Performance 
Indicators
Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations require 
Councils to report on Service 
Performance Indicators, which 
align to Strategic Objectives.  

Results of these indicators, 
including comparisons with 
other councils and sector 
averages, will be published on 
the Victorian Government’s 
Know Your Council website 
knowyourcouncil.vic.gov.au 
in November 2017.

Performance
Statement
Council is also required to 
publish an audited Performance 
Statement as part of its Annual 
Report. 

The Performance Statement 
contains a selection of the 
Service Performance Indicators 
as well as a number of Financial 
Performance Indicators and 
Sustainable Capacity Indicators. 
This is provided in the 
Performance Statement section.
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Performance 
report

Performance summary
Of the 46 Annual Plan Activities, 
38 (83%) were completed or 
on-track. 

One of the 47 Strategic Indicators, 
one was deferred by Council 
resolution on Tuesday 7 June 2016 
and therefore has not been 
considered in these figures. Of the 
remaining 46 Strategic Indicators, 
targets for 39 were exceeded or 
were within 10% of target for an 
achievement rate of 85%.

COUNCIL 
PLAN

LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
PERFORMANCE 
REPORTING 
FRAMEWORK

STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVES

ACTIVITIES
(Council Plan 
Initiatives and 
Annual Plan 
Actions)

STRATEGIC 
INDICATORS

SERVICE 
PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS

AUDITED 
PERFORMANCE 
STATEMENT
(provided 
separately on 
page 136)

STRATEGIES

COUNCIL’S 
HIGH LEVEL 

PLANNING

REPORTING  
TIER

(This is where 
Council measures 

its progress)
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Activities

Strategic Objective # # complete 
or on track

% complete 
or on track

Celebrating Yarra’s Uniqueness 8 8 100%

Supporting Yarra’s Community 12 12 93%

Making Yarra More Liveable 13 13 61%

Ensuing a Sustainable Yarra 5 5 60%

Leading Local Government 8 8 100%

TOTAL 46 46 83%

Annual Plan completion 
rates 2013–17 
(% Activities complete  
or on track)

Year
% Activities 
complete or  
on track

2016/17 83%

2015/16 92%

2014/15 81%

Strategic Indicators

Strategic Objective #
# exceeded 
or within 
10%

% exceeded 
or within 
10%

Celebrating Yarra’s Uniqueness 12 12 100%

Supporting Yarra’s Community 7 6 86%

Making Yarra More Liveable 11 8 73%

Ensuing a Sustainable Yarra 7 5 71%

Leading Local Government 9 9 100%

TOTAL 46 39 85%

Performance against 
Activities for each Strategic 
Objective 2016/17

Performance against Strategic 
Indicators for each Strategic 
Objective 2016/17
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 1

Celebrating 
Yarra’s 
Uniqueness

Identity is a passionate and 
recurring theme throughout 
Yarra. This is about our 
community diversity, our 
history and our sense of 
place – be it our street, 
neighbourhood, suburb  
or municipality.

An ongoing focus for Council 
is how to keep a sense of 
history and place, as reflected 
by streetscapes, shops and 
houses, and how to pay 
tribute to the lived history, 
connecting with the stories 
and experiences of those who 
came before us and shaped 
the character of Yarra.

Strategies
The following strategies guide 
Council’s work in this area:

1. Protect heritage and the Yarra 
River corridor.

2. Recognise the value of Yarra’s 
Aboriginal cultural heritage. 

3. Foster and promote Yarra’s arts, 
culture, history, diversity and 
vitality.

4. Represent the community’s 
views and needs, through 
strategic advocacy to state and 
federal governments, as well as 
local services and organisations.

5. Engage and strengthen 
connections with diverse 
groups in our community.

6. Support Yarra’s business 
community and celebrate and 
promote sustainable, innovative 
and creative business.

7. Advocate to businesses, 
landowners and state 
government to ensure  
Yarra’s commercial and retail 
businesses are provided in 
accessible buildings.

8. Strengthen relationships with 
key community partners such 
as Australian Catholic 
University, St Vincent’s Hospital, 
Epworth Hospital and others.

9. Advocacy for increased social 
and affordable housing in Yarra, 
including a minimum of 5% of 
apartments designed to be 
wheelchair accessible and 
comply with DDA standards.

Services
The following services have 
primary responsibility for 
delivering Strategic Objective 1:

Arts, Culture and Venues  
Works with communities, artists, 
organisations, businesses and 
governments to achieve community 
wellbeing, economic strength and 
cultural vitality within Yarra. It 
achieves this through involving local 
people, investing in local practice, 
and supporting a shared sense of 
place.

City Strategy  
Promotes land use planning that 
achieves more sustainable 
development outcomes, supports 
a growing local economy and 
facilitates high quality public 
spaces. Promotes the health, 
safety and wellbeing of Yarra 
residents through social policy 
initiatives. 

People, Culture and Community  
Supports community development 
in Yarra. Promotes, competency, 
effectiveness and wellbeing as a 
shared responsibility of the 
organisation and its people. 
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Highlight activities
› Work on the Stolen Generations 

Marker and garden, which will 
honour the struggles and 
resilience of the Stolen 
Generations, is well underway. 
The Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander community shared 
thoughts, ideas and stories by 
participating in our community 
survey and conversations, and 
after an expressions of interest 
process, five Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander artists with 
links to Victoria were invited to 
develop concept designs for the 
project. 

› Speaking Your Language 
information packs have been 
produced in 10 languages. Each 
pack contains 11 cards with an 
outline of services for youth, 
families, older people and people 
with a disability, as well as 
information about rubbish and 
recycling services, leisure centres, 
libraries and more. 

› A new temporary artwork, Adam 
Stone’s ‘A Fall From Grace (Self 
Portrait Crash) II’ has been 
installed on the empty plinth in 
the Edinburgh Gardens. The 
plinth originally held a statue of 
Queen Victoria, which 
disappeared shortly after it was 
erected in 1901. 

› Community consultation for  
the next four-year Council  
Plan reached out to under-
represented groups such as 
young people, older residents, 
people with low proficiency in 
English and people who are 
disadvantaged or vulnerable.  
This included workshops for a 
diverse range of groups from 
Chinese elderly residents to 
people experiencing 
homelessness, a Vietnamese 
disability group to BBQ 
participants (local Aboriginal 
community) and a combined 
workshop for our 14 advisory 
groups.

Of the eight Activities within this Strategic Objective, all eight (100%) are complete. 

Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

1.01 Heritage 
Gaps Study

Annual 
Plan 
Activity

Council is progressively assessing areas and places for their 
heritage significance. A focus this year was reviewing 
heritage places, particularly in commercial areas and activity 
centres, to improve statements of significance.

100%

1.02 Yarra River 
planning 
controls

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

The state government has introduced new interim planning 
controls along the Yarra River and will be establishing a Yarra 
River trust and preparing legislation to provide greater 
protection and improved management of the river.

100%

1.03 Aboriginal 
Partnerships 
Plan 2015–
2018 

Annual 
Plan 
Action 

The Aboriginal Partnerships Plan guides Council’s work with 
the local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island community and 
includes actions in the areas of community connection, 
culture, employment and events.

100%

1.04 Multicultural 
Partnerships 
Plan 2015–
2018

Annual 
Plan 
Action

The Multicultural Partnership Plan guides Council’s 
relationship with its multicultural residents and communities, 
and includes actions in the areas of relationship building, 
access and inclusion, opportunities and anti-racism.

100%

Activities
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 1

Celebrating 
Yarra’s 
Uniqueness

Activities (cont.)

Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

1.05 Room to Create Annual 
Plan 
Action

The Room to Create Charitable Fund supports arts 
organisations with infrastructure related expenses.

100%

1.06 Affordable and 
suitable spaces 
for community 
and creative 
community

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

A range of actions has been implemented to provide 
suitable and affordable community and creative spaces, 
including exploring options for underutilised spaces such 
as The Stables and Williams Reserve Community Room.

100%

1.07 Public Art 
Projects

Annual 
Plan 
Action

This year’s activities include the Plinth Project in 
Edinburgh Gardens, the Carlton Library Billboard 
program and a roving projection art program.

100%

1.08 Accessible 
communication 
and engagement

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Community engagement and consultation has included 
access and inclusion initiatives for CALD communities 
and people with disabilities.

100%

Yarra’s Youth 
Ambassadors are 
challenging harmful 
stereotypes.

46 Performance 
report



Strategic Indicators 
(measures of success)

All 12 Strategic Indicators were met 
or exceeded.

Condition of Council-owned 
heritage assets. 

All Council heritage buildings were 
considered fit-for-purpose with a 
condition rating of three or lower, 
meeting Council’s target of three 
or better (on this five point scale, 
lower numbers are better).

Increased participation in arts 
and cultural activities in Yarra.

› Number of attendees at Council 
sponsored festivals and events: 
Council exceeded its target of 
120,000 attendees, with an 
estimated 197,000 people 
attending events such as the 
Lunar Festival, Leaps and 
Bounds Music Festival, Gertrude 
Street Projection Festival, Fiesta 
and Reclink Community Cup. 

› Number of projects funded:  
Council funded 73 arts projects 
through a range of funding 
initiatives including small project 
grants, triennial grants, visual 
and public art projects. This 
comfortably exceeded the target 
of 30.

› Number of participation  
focus projects funded:  
Council supported 14 
participatory community art 
projects including Blakwiz, 
Emerge, and Smith Street 
Dreaming. There is no target for 
this indicator. 

› Number of public art projects 
funded or produced:    
Council exceeded its target of 
three new works by funding a 
total of eight, including, lightbox 
installations at Carlton Library 
and projections and pasteups in 
Peel Street. 

Numbers attending events and 
activities for cultural and 
ethnically diverse communities 
at Yarra Libraries.

› Number of attendees at library 
programs and events:   
Attendance this year was 37,034, 
which is well above the target of 
25,000.

› Conduct an annual review of 
cultural events and programs 
delivered by Yarra Libraries: 
Council met its goal by reviewing 
all plans and programs on a 
quarterly basis.

› Develop an annual program 
 of learning and reader focused 
activities:   
A program of learning and 
reader-focussed activities was 
delivered across all five library 
branches.

Sustained or increased space, 
both Council and privately owned, 
available for creative practice.

› Develop a Richmond  
Theatrette Program:  
The program included Slapstick 
Action Plan – comedy theatre 
and disability theatre 
development, Strive – 
development of new theatre 
piece, and Quippings – LGBTIQ 
and disability performance 
development. 

› Number of facilities  
maintained for medium-term 
accommodation for creative 
organisations:   
Council met its target of 
maintaining five creative spaces, 
which are Dancehouse, Yarra 
Sculpture Gallery, Visionary 
Images, Australian Print Council 
and Women’s Art Register.

› Number of exhibition  
spaces maintained:   
Exhibition spaces were 
maintained at the Richmond 
Town Hall, the Fitzroy and 
Richmond Libraries, and 
Baroonga Nganjin. This exceeds 
the target by one. 

› Develop a corpus for the Room 
to Create Fund of $200,000 in 
the first four years:   
The Room to Create Fund, a 
perpetual fund for creative spaces 
in Yarra, reached $318,957, which is 
above the target of $265,000.

Number of new MOUs 
established with key community 
partners.

Council signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with Kangan, 
Epworth and the Royal Flying 
Doctors in 2016/17. Council also 
signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding with Australian 
Catholic University and Melbourne 
and Olympic Park Trust in previous 
years for a total of five over the life 
of the Council Plan.

Service Performance Indicators.

There are no Service Performance 
Indicators for this Strategic 
Objective.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 2

Supporting 
Yarra’s 
Community

Yarra is home to a diverse 
community. It is a great place 
to live and raise families, with 
access to a wide range of 
services, support and 
facilities.

Council provides many services 
and facilities important to the 
community’s health and 
wellbeing. Focus areas include 
early childhood health, 
education and development; 
support for younger adults; 
access and inclusion for people 
with disabilities; and support for 
older residents and people with 
disabilities. Sports and 
recreation facilities are also 
important to local wellbeing,  
as are thriving local businesses 
offering jobs and services.

Strategies
The following strategies guide 
Council’s work in this area:

1. Champion rights to civic and 
community participation for 
residents experiencing social 
disadvantage.

2. Continue to create a resident-
friendly city that reduces 
isolation, improves access to 
the built environment and 
builds social connections. 

3. Undertake Community 
Infrastructure Planning for all 
Yarra neighbourhoods to inform 
advocacy, funding applications 
and developer contribution 
negotiations.

4. Encourage greater social 
cohesion and participation 
through volunteer initiatives 
and community development 
activities. 

5. Support Yarra’s disadvantaged 
community into employment 
through direct recruitment, 
social procurement or 
development of social 
enterprises. 

6. Deliver Council services that 
meet community priorities and 
needs.

7. Ensure Council strategies and 
plans address community 
aspirations and needs and work 
to deliver outcomes in a highly 
integrated manner.

8. Ensure Council’s Asset 
Management Plans deliver 
infrastructure and facilities that 
are fit for purpose. 

9. Implementation of the new 
Disability Action Plan 
continuing our focus on the 
empowerment of residents with 
a disability. 

Services
The following services have 
primary responsibility for 
delivering Strategic Objective 2:

Aged and Disability Services  
Works towards a cohesive, inclusive 
and supportive community where 
older people and people living with 
a disability are leading healthy and 
meaningful lives, and are respected 
and valued members of the 
community. It works with residents, 
community groups, agencies and 
other stakeholders to strengthen 
local neighbourhoods and 
communities, plan and deliver 
services that enhance 
independence, and support 
advocacy at all levels.

Family, Youth and Children’s 
Services  
Works with the community, 
agencies and other stakeholders to 
develop and deliver services that 
respond to the needs of children, 
young people and families. Also 
works to plan and partner, lead 
networks, advocate and facilitate 
outcomes.

Library Services  
Ensures that the current and  
future information, recreation, 
educational, cultural and social 
connectivity needs of the diverse 
communities of Yarra are met.

Leisure Services  
Provides a range of high quality 
facilities and programs to meet the 
health, leisure, sporting and social 
needs of a broad cross-section of 
the community.
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Highlight activities
› Yarra assisted eligible people  

to transition to the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS), which commenced on  
1 July and will give people with  
a disability greater choice and 
control over who provides their 
services. Yarra is the first council 
in Victoria to roll out the NDIS, 
with about 750 local residents 
expected to join. 

› Yarra continued to support the 
Balit Narrum network’s advocacy  
for employment of full-time 
positions to support Aboriginal 
community members and 
Aboriginal community controlled 
organisations to prepare for 
transition onto the NDIS.  

 This advocacy resulted in four 
funded positions: one at the 
Aborigines Advancement League 
and three at the Brotherhood of 
St Laurence. 

› In partnership with Arts Access 
Victoria and Yarra’s Disability 
Services team, Yarra Libraries 
developed a library-specific 
disability-awareness and 
accessible-customer-service 
training program. This training 
was rolled out to all library staff 
and two officers at each branch 
have nominated to become 
Access Ambassadors. Together 
they will champion accessibility 
throughout our libraries and be 
available to help people use our 
spaces, facilities and services. 

› Yarra’s Family Services delivered 
a range of evidence-based 
programs including Mothers 
Matter Too for women 
experiencing perinatal or post-
natal depression or anxiety, an 
after-school soccer program for 
children, an African Women’s 
Group with New Hope 
Foundation, Tuning into Kids 
parent education program and 
Space 4 Us a youth mental 
health program with St Vincent’s 
Mental Health. 

Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

2.01 North Fitzroy 
Community Hub

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Now known as Bargoonga Nganjin, the new hub opened 
in April. 

With a focus on service integration, it offers increased 
space for library collections and activities, and provides 
the neighbourhood with a new centre of community life.

100%

2.02 Regional  
Sports Facility

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Council continues to advocate to the state government 
and relevant agencies for the completion of a funding 
case for the proposed Regional Sports Facility as part of 
the mixed-use development of the former Gas Works 
Site, 433 Smith Street, Fitzroy.

100%

2.03 Leisure Centre 
Improvements

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Improvements include renovation of change rooms at 
Fitzroy Swimming Pool and Richmond Recreation 
Centre, installation of dry side heating, ventilating and air 
conditioning system at Collingwood Leisure Centre. 
Works will carry over into 2017/18.

50%

2.04 Hydrotherapy 
pool feasibility 
study

Annual 
Plan 
Action

The study was completed and hydrotherapy options 
were to be considered as part of the 2017/18 budget 
process.

100%

Of the 12 Activities within this Strategic Objective, 11 (92%) are complete or on-track. 
Activities
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 2

Supporting Yarra’s 
Community

Activities (cont.)

Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

2.05 Community 
Infrastructure 
Planning 

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Neighbourhood Community Infrastructure Plans guide 
planning for all types of community infrastructure, 
including for library, leisure and child care services. Five 
plans have been completed and will be presented to 
Council in 2017/2018. 

90%

2.06 Service Reviews Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Council is progressively reviewing the long-term direction 
of all Council services. 

100%

2.07 Access and 
Inclusion Plan

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

The Access and Inclusion Plan aims to improve access to 
community participation, employment and social 
activities, increase awareness and access to the built 
environment. A focus this year was advocating for 
improved access and equity for Aboriginal people with 
disabilities and their carers. 

100%

2.08 Positive Ageing 
Strategy

Annual 
Plan 
Action

The River of Life: Positive Ageing Strategy responds to 
opportunities and the challenges of an ageing 
population in Yarra. It aims to improve opportunities for 
older residents to participate in the community and 
remain active and independent. Current focus includes 
the LGBTIQ Plan to support inclusive practice within 
Aged and Disability services. 

100%

2.09 National Home 
Care and 
Disability Care 
reforms

Annual 
Plan 
Action

The national aged and disability care reforms have 
significant implications for how Yarra residents are 
supported into the future. Council has focussed on 
training staff, working with local agencies, supporting 
eligible residents, and advocating for special needs 
groups. 

100%

2.10 Communities 
that Care

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Communities That Care aims to build capacity within 
communities to improve the healthy development of 
children and young people. 

The priority areas are: 

› reduce alcohol and drug use

› strengthen family relationships 

›  improve personal resilience of middle years young 
people.

100%
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Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

2.11 Socio-economic 
and social 
justice advocacy 

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Advocacy is a focus of key strategies including the 
Aboriginal Partnerships Plan, Multicultural Partnerships 
Plan, Access and Inclusion Plan, as well as the portfolio 
areas of homelessness, social and affordable housing, 
Neighbourhood Houses and community safety. 

Key activities in this area include: 

›  staff training and advocacy on responding to primary 
homelessness

›  building partnerships with service providers to the 
Aboriginal community in Yarra 

›  advocacy around the implementation of harm reduction 
strategies and issues arising from injecting drug use.

100%

2.12 Richmond High 
School advocacy

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Where feasible Council has ensured community needs 
are considered in the planning of the new school in the 
Richmond Town Hall precinct. This has included having a 
representative on the New School Planning Group and 
discussing traffic and parking implications with 
Department of Education and Training.

100%
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STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE 2

Supporting Yarra’s 
Community

Seniors Month Dancing at 
the Fitzroy Town Hall 
Reading Room.

Strategic indicators 
(measures of success)
Of the seven Strategic Indicators, 
six (86%) were met or exceeded. 

Number of submissions made to 
the state government and the 
federal Government on Yarra’s 
diverse socio-economic profile. 

The Strategic Advocacy 
Framework guides the advocacy 
efforts of Yarra City Council and is 
a key priority of the 2013–17 
Council Plan. This Framework, a 
first for Yarra, outlines Council’s 
strategic advocacy priorities in a 
planned, coordinated and 
resourced approach to facilitate 
action and results. 

These priorities have been 
identified through a process of 
evidence-based research and 
benchmarking, consultation with 
the community and the Council 
Plan 2013–17.

A number of submissions have 
been made this year including to 
the review of The Liquor Control 
Reform Act 1998 (Department of 
Justice and Regulation), Plan 
Melbourne Refresh (Department of 
Environment, Land, Water and 
Planning), correspondence to the 
Commonwealth Attorney General 
in support of ongoing funding for 
community legal centres locally, 
and response to Department of 

Health and Human Services Rough 
Sleeping in Victoria Situation 
Appraisal.

There is no target for this indicator.
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Number of new strategies and 
plans that consider disability 
access and inclusion.

All key strategies developed in 
2016/17 gave consideration to 
access and inclusion through 
consultation with Council’s 
Disability Advisory Committee or 
liaison with the Disability Access 
and Inclusion Officer. 

Community infrastructure  
plans developed for all 
neighbourhoods.  

Five Community Infrastructure 
Neighbourhood Plans have been 
completed, and will be presented 
to Council in the first quarter 
2017/18.

There was no target for this 
indicator. 

Volunteering Strategy  
adopted by Council

This Strategic Indicator was 
effectively deferred by Council 
resolution on Tuesday 7 June 2016.

Service review framework 
adopted by Council.

The service review framework  
was adopted by Council during 
2014/15.

Number of service areas 
reviewed in accordance with the 
service review framework each 
year.

The target of eight reviews has not 
yet been achieved. An evaluation 
of the Service Review program has 
been commenced to identify 
achievements to date and issues 
relating to program 
implementation. The evaluation will 
provide recommendations on 
future program delivery. 

Progress is as follows:

› Aged and Disability Services 
completed a service review. 

› Family, Youth and Children’s 
Services service review and 
related projects will be presented 
to Executive and Council in the 
first quarter of 2017/18. 

› Statutory Planning presented 
preliminary findings and 
recommendations to Executive 
and a Councillors’ Briefing. 

› Recreation and Open Space 
commenced scoping their 
service review and developed a 
project plan, which will be 
presented to Executive in the 
first quarter of 2017/18. 

Achievement against actions 
and targets in Asset 
Management Plans

Council’s result of 92.5% exceeded 
its target of 85%.

Highlights:

› A municipal-wide audit of 
Council’s street trees and 
streetscape plantings was 
completed.

› The Open Space Asset 
Management Plan is in draft 
form. 

› The Buildings Asset Management 
Plan is undergoing final review.

› The revision of Road Asset and 
Drainage Maintenance Plans has 
been finalised.

› The Fleet Management Unit is 
trialling lease arrangements for 
passenger vehicles.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 2

Supporting Yarra’s 
Community

Service Performance Indicators

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary1

Aquatic facilities

Satisfaction

User satisfaction with aquatic facilities 

(User satisfaction with how council has 
performed on provision of aquatic facilities)

80.7 81.80 84.2 This continues to be a solid 
result within acceptable 
tolerances.

Service standard

Health inspections of aquatic facilities

(Number of authorised officer inspections of 
Council aquatic facilities/Number of Council 
aquatic facilities)

2.00 3.00 4.33 Additional inspections were 
carried out on spa pools.

Health and Safety

Reportable safety incidents at aquatic 
facilities

(Number of WorkSafe reportable aquatic 
facility safety incidents)

0 1.00 0

Service cost 

Cost of indoor aquatic facilities

(Direct cost of indoor aquatic facilities less 
income received/Number of visits to indoor 
aquatic facilities)

$1.14 $1.18 $0.49 Significantly improved 
revenue, and to a lesser 
extent reduced expenditure, 
has reduced the cost per visit 
for 2016/17 compared to 
previous years.

Service cost 

Cost of outdoor aquatic facilities

(Direct cost of outdoor aquatic facilities less 
income received/Number of visits to 
outdoor aquatic facilities)

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 All City of Yarra pools are 
defined as indoor pools 
under the LGPRF guidelines

Utilisation 

Utilisation of aquatic facilities

(Number of visits to aquatic facilities/
Municipal population)

11.8 11.63 11.96 This continues to be a strong 
result and reflects 
significantly higher than 
average utilisation compared 
to the all Council's average 
result.
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Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary1

Home and Community Care (HACC)

Timeliness

Time taken to commence the HACC service

(Number of days between the referral of a 
new client and the commencement of HACC 
NAservice/Number of new clients who have 
received a HACC service)

27.32 33.72 NA Reporting on HACC ceased 
on one July 2016 due to the 
introduction of the federal 
government’s NDIS and 
CHSP programs.

Service standard

Compliance with community care common 
standards

(Number of Community Care Common 
Standards expected outcomes met/Number 
of expected outcomes under the 
Community Care Common Standards) x100

83.33% 83.33% NA Reporting on HACC ceased 
on one July 2016 due to the 
introduction of the federal 
government’s NDIS and 
CHSP programs.

Service cost

Cost of domestic care service

(Cost of the domestic care service/Hours of 
domestic care service delivered)

$0.00 $65.34 NA Reporting on HACC ceased 
on one July 2016 due to the 
introduction of the federal 
government’s NDIS and 
CHSP programs.

Service cost 

Cost of respite care service

(Cost of the domestic care service/Hours of 
respite care service delivered)

$0.00 $65.34 NA Reporting on HACC ceased 
on one July 2016 due to the 
introduction of the federal 
government’s NDIS and 
CHSP programs.

Participation 

Participation in HACC service

(Number of people that received a HACC 
service/Municipal target population for 
HACC services) x100

16.00% 13.44% NA Reporting on HACC ceased 
on one July 2016 due to the 
introduction of the federal 
government’s NDIS and 
CHSP programs.

Participation 

Participation in HACC service by CALD 
people

(Number of CALD people who receive a 
HACC service/Municipal target population in 
relation to CALD people for HACC services) 
x100

13.00% 10.24% NA Reporting on HACC ceased 
on one July 2016 due to the 
introduction of the federal 
government’s NDIS and 
CHSP programs.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 2

Supporting Yarra’s 
Community

Service Performance Indicators (cont.)

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary1

Maternal and Child Health (MCH)

Satisfaction

Participation in first MCH home visit 

(Number of first MCH home visits/
Number of birth notifications 
received) x100

102.00% 102.72% 93.20% Overall increase in service delivery 
hours offered through the service.   
Proportional decrease in first time 
participation due to a number of 
factors, including population increase, 
population migration and data 
management changes.

Service standard

Infant enrolments in the MCH service

(Number of infants enrolled in the 
MCH service (from birth notifications 
received)/Number of birth 
notifications received) x100

100.00% 97.00% 101.85% This continues to be a solid result 
within acceptable tolerances.

Service cost

Cost of MCH service

(Number of WorkSafe reportable 
aquatic facility safety incidents)

0 1.00 0

Service cost 

Cost of indoor aquatic facilities

(Cost of the MCH service/Hours 
worked by MCH nurses)

$0.00 $90.71 $84.55 While Council’s financial investment in 
the service has increased in 2016/17, 
the service has proportionally 
delivered more service hours 
compared to previous years, due to 
higher demand resulting in a reduced 
average cost for 2016/17.

Participation 

Participation in the MCH service

(Number of children who attend the 
MCH service at least once (in the 
year)/Number of children enrolled in 
the MCH service) x100

83.00% 79.82% 79.38 Demand for service delivery has 
increased as the Yarra population 
continues to grow. Actual number of 
service hours has increased, but 
proportion of the population 
participating has reduced slightly.

Participation

Participation in the MCH service by 
Aboriginal children

(Number of Aboriginal children who 
attend the MCH service at least once 
(in the year) /Number of Aboriginal 
children enrolled in the MCH service) 
x100

74.00% 59.72% 63.41% Increase in overall demand compared 
to 2015/16 due to minor variations in 
the Yarra Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander population and participation 
rates in the Victorian Aboriginal 
Health Service
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1 Commentary only required where a result falls outside a certain range or material variation threshold.

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary1

Libraries 

Utilisation

Library collection usage

(Number of library collection item 
loans/Number of library collection 
items)

4.00 4.46 4.30 Temporary closure of Richmond 
library for refurbishments and closure 
of North Fitzroy library for the 
opening of the new Bargoonga 
Nganjin North Fitzroy Library during 
2016/17 had an impact on number of 
loans which in turn affected the 
library collection usage compared to 
the previous year, it remains a positive 
trend over the three year reporting 
period.

Resource standard

Standard of library collection

(Number of library collection items 
purchased in the last 5 years/Number 
of library collection items) x100

90% 99.14% 67.67% The 2017 result is higher than the 2016 
average for all Council's (63%) but 
lower than that for similar Council's 
(73%) in 2016. The 2015 and 2016 
result recorded the percentage of 
stock purchased in the last five years 
that remained in circulation and did 
not include shelf stock over 5 years 
old. The 2017 calculation now refers to 
the total collection.

Service cost

Cost of library service

(Direct cost to Council of the library 
service/Number of visits)

$8.25 $9.53 $8.70 Significant savings were achieved in 
the operational budget 2016/17 due to 
improved efficiencies and savings due 
to staff vacancies.

Participation 

Active library members

(Number of active library members/
Municipal population) x100

18.94% 17.39% 17.82% This continues to be a solid result 
within acceptable tolerances.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 3

Making  
Yarra More 
Liveable

Maintaining Yarra’s valued 
qualities whilst the city 
continues to grow – in terms 
of residents, workers and 
visitors – will occupy more 
of our attention. Mediating 
conflicting needs (including 
parking, travel, recreation, 
social and environmental 
needs) will require 
considered community 
engagement and creative 
innovative solutions.

Strategies
The following strategies guide 
Council’s work in this area:

1. Manage competing demands 
for use of public and green 
open space.

2. Continue to identify 
opportunities to convert road 
spaces and laneways for parks 
or improved pedestrian spaces.

3. Increase amount of public and 
open space in areas with least 
access, in accordance with the 
Open Space Strategy.

4. Advocate to protect green and 
open spaces on Yarra’s public 
housing estates. 

5. Upgrade and refresh Leisure 
Centres, sports and recreation 
facilities and grounds to meet 
growing demands.

6. Seek to achieve more 
communal private open space 
within large developments.

7. Increase cycling through 
improved access and 
infrastructure. 

8. Increase pedestrian activity and 
safety through improved access 
and infrastructure. This needs 
to include improved access for 
mobility aid devices.

9. Advocate for public transport 
improvements.

10. Continue to implement 
Council’s Local Area Traffic 
Management Study (LATMS) 
program.

11. Manage competing parking 
needs of residents, business 
and visitors.

12. Manage change in Yarra’s built 
form and activity centres 
through community 
engagement, land use planning 
and appropriate structure 
planning processes.

13. Protect Council assets through 
effective proactive construction 
management.

14. Improve disability access to 
community amenities and built 
environment.

Services
The following services have 
primary responsibility for 
delivering Strategic Objective 3:

Compliance and Parking Services 
Implements statutory health 
protection and compliance 
services to maximise safety and 
harmony in the city. Manages the 
limited parking available to ensure 
safety of all road users and 
balance the needs of residents, 
visitors, businesses and community 
facilities in a fair and equitable 
manner.

Statutory Planning  
Makes sound judgements about 
the use and development of land, 
which gives effect to state and 
local planning policies. Decisions 
are based on clear procedures, 
appropriate public participation 
and coordination with other 
branches of Council.

Construction Management 
Ensures that developments have 
minimum impact on the amenity of 
residents, businesses and Council 
infrastructure.

Traffic and Special Projects 
Maintains and enhances Yarra’s 
traffic infrastructure to ensure a 
safe, efficient and sustainable 
traffic environment.

Engineering and Asset 
Management 
Provides policy, strategy and 
procedures that produce an 
integrated and multidisciplinary 
approach to asset management.
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Recreation and Open Space 
Manages and enhances public 
open spaces, including parks, 
gardens, facilities, trees and 
streetscapes. Manages and 
provides accessible recreation 
opportunities.

Highlight activities
› The PayStay parking app has 

superseded the previous pay  
by phone option. This offers 
drivers more flexibility as they 
pay only for the time they spend 
in the parking bay, and more 
convenience as it is also used  
in the neighbouring City of 
Melbourne.

› Results from the Benchmark 
Park User Satisfaction Survey 
identified an overall satisfaction 
with Yarra’s parks of 8.4 out of 
10, which was second highest 
among the 18 participating 
councils. 

›› Yarra’s Licensed Premises 
Planning Scheme amendment 
was put on exhibition. This is an 
action arising out of the Night 
Time Economy Strategy and the 
Health Plan that will help us 
better manage the location, size, 
operation and hours of licensed 
venues and will also provide 
greater clarity about where new 
venues are allowed to be 
established.

Brunswick Street, Fitzroy
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 3

Making Yarra  
More Liveable

Activities

Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

3.01 Strategic land 
acquisition 
report

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

The report seeking Council authorisation to proceed with 
land acquisition for the purposes of creating new public 
open space is underway. A market valuation for two 
parcels of land has been received and further due 
diligence on one of those parcels has commenced. 

20%

3.02 New parks Annual 
Plan 
Action

This activity was to negotiate a joint use agreement for 
community use (out of school hours) of open space at 
Yarra Primary School in Richmond in exchange for Council 
upgrading the open space. The draft joint use agreement  
is with the Department of Education and Training for 
review, and the budget for this activity has been carried 
forward to 2016/17.

100%

3.03 Installation of 
sports lights at 
Kevin Bartlett 
Reserve

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Lights at the two soccer fields at this reserve have been 
installed to increase the capacity for training on these 
pitches.

100%

3.04 Shared pathway 
at Coulson 
Reserve

Annual 
Plan 
Action

The path removes a steep descent/climb addressing a 
significant risk identified in the Merri Creek Trail Review. 
Construction is underway on the main structure and will 
be complete in the first quarter of 2017/18.

95%

3.05 Bicycle 
Advocacy

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Council continues to advocate for bicycle infrastructure 
as part of any state funded road projects in Yarra, and 
improved bicycle route connections across municipal 
borders.

100%

3.06 Public transport 
advocacy

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Advocacy included a focus on improved outcomes for 
Yarra residents on the Hoddle Street project and 
improved public transport across Chandler Highway. 
Public Transport Victoria has delayed the Brunswick 
Street tram route project.

90%

3.07 Wellington 
Street bicycle 
lane

Annual 
Plan 
Action

The design and the associated engineering specification 
is nearly complete and will be finalised by the end of 
October.

60%

Of the 13 Activities within this Strategic Objective, eight (62%) are complete or on-track. 
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Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

3.08 New parking 
technology

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Installation of Pay Stay mobile phone payment option 
and rollout of new ticket system are complete. 
Installation of parking sensors is underway with 2000 
(50%) sensors already installed.

75%

3.09 Traffic 
management 
initiatives

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Council undertakes Local Area Traffic Management 
Studies to identify traffic calming measures and safety 
improvements. Focus this year was on Rose Street 
Fitzroy, Gold Street Collingwood, and Station Street 
North Carlton.

%100

3.10 Advocacy on 
growth and 
change within 
Yarra

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Advocacy continues with the Department of 
Environment Land Water and Planning as well as the 
local member of parliament regarding the need for 
greater planning certainty in local planning scheme in 
order to manage the rate of growth that is occurring. 
The recent Victorian Auditor General's review of the 
planning system was another opportunity to advocate 
for improvements to the legal and operational aspects of 
the Victorian Planning Provisions.

100%

3.11 Urban growth 
management

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

This year’s initiatives include a draft Economic and 
Employment Strategy (which is complete), a draft 
Housing Strategy (which has commenced) and planning 
scheme amendments for Swan Street and Johnston 
Street (which are well underway).

75%

3.12 Yarra Activity 
Centre Built 
Form review

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

This analysis of the built form of all Yarra activity centres 
will be the basis for preparing urban design guidelines 
and planning height controls that can be introduced in to 
the Yarra Planning Scheme. 

72%

3.13 Licensed 
Premises Policy 
update

Annual 
Plan 
Action

The update of the Licensed Premises Policy is an action 
arising out of the Night Time Economy Strategy and the 
Health Plan. It relates to amending and updating the 
licensed premises policy in the Planning Scheme.

97%
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 3

Making Yarra 
More Liveable

Strategic indicators 
(measures of success) 

Of the 11 Strategic Indicators, eight 
(73%) were met or exceeded. 

Number of new parks planned 
and constructed

The target of one park was not 
met, however a proposed new 
park at Charles and Mollison 
Streets, Abbotsford, is in the 
detailed design stage, with 
construction expected to be 
delivered across the next two 
financial years. 

Completion of bicycle and 
pedestrian assets in accordance 
with the adopted capital works 
program

Council completed 95% of bicycle 
and pedestrian assets works, 
exceeding its target of 85%. 

Number of LATMS (local area 
traffic management studies) 
precinct plans designed and 
constructed per annum 

Works designed to calm traffic and 
enhance safety were finalised in 
Fitzroy and Collingwood, meeting 
the target of two. 

Updated Parking Strategy 
endorsed by Council 

Council fulfilled the requirements 
of this Strategic Indicator when it 
adopted its Parking Management 
Strategy 2013–15 in November 
2013. 

Effective metrics and measures 
established to monitor rate of 
growth and change in Yarra 

Additional work has occurred to 
improve the spatial analysis 
available using Council’s 
Geographic Information System 
and Department of Environment, 
Land, Water and Planning’s 
housing development data. This 
indicator achieved a 90% result.

Completion of the Yarra 
Planning Scheme review and 
preparation of a revised 
Planning Scheme 

The review has been completed 
and specific policies are being 
reviewed and redrafted. The need 
for additional strategic studies has 
caused a delay in drafting policy, 
but these studies are a prerequisite 
for developing final draft planning 
policy content. This indicator 
achieved a result of 85%.

Increased use of disability 
access audits for Council 
facilities

› Set up Council’s Panel of 
Accredited Disability Access 
Consultants:  
Establishment of a specific panel 
of access consultants is no 
longer necessary given that 
accredited access consultants 
are now required to focus on 
Universal Design rather than 
minimum accessibility 
compliance.  

› All redevelopments of Council 
facilities and capital works 
identified in the Annual Plan 
demonstrate the use of panel 
consultants at all phases from 
design to completion:  
All capital works projects 
engaged accredited accessibility 
consultants at both the planning 
and construction stages, 
achieving a 100% result for this 
indicator. 

Monitor and improve 
turnaround times of planning 
applications and appeal rates 

› Fast track:  
All 188 VicSmart applications 
were determined within 10 days, 
meeting the target of 100%. 

› Simple:   
A total of 762 Simple 
Applications were determined. 
Of these, 497 were determined 
within 60 days equating to 65%, 
which exceeds the target of 60%.

› Failure to determine appeals:  
Yarra aimed to ensure that no 
more than 10% of applications 
lodges with Victorian Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal related to 
‘failure to determine’ on the part 
of Council. Due to the volume 
and complexity of applications 
Council fell slightly short of its 
target, recording a result of 17%.
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Service Performance Indicators

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary2

Animal management

Timeliness

Time taken to action animal 
management requests

(Number of days between receipt and 
first response action for all animal 
management requests/Number of 
animal management requests)

2.72 2.06 2.46 The time to action requests remains 
under 3 days and is within acceptable 
parameters.

Service standard

Animals reclaimed

(Number of animals reclaimed/
Number of animals collected) x100

64.00% 72.85% 55.49% The 2016/17 result includes feral and 
diseased animals captured or 
surrendered to the pound service.  
These animals cannot be reclaimed 
and were not included in previous 
years figures reducing the 2016/17 
result.

Service cost

Cost of animal management service

(Direct cost of the animal 
management service/Number of 
registered animals)

$44.24 $40.11 $51.98 Staff costs have increased in 2016/17 
to include an additional enforcement 
and education resource

Health and safety 

Animal management prosecutions

(Number of successful animal 
management prosecutions)

4.00 5.00 11.00 Council has increased its patrol 
activity in 2016/17 compared to 
previous years including follow-up of 
alleged dog attacks where the owner 
could not originally be identified 
resulting in an increase in 
prosecutions.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 3

Making Yarra 
More Liveable

Service Performance Indicators (cont.)

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary2

Food safety

Timeliness

Time taken to action food complaints

(Number of days between receipt and 
first response action for all food 
complaints/Number of food 
complaints)

1.23 1.42 1.88 From 1 July 2016, Time taken to action 
food complaints has been reported by 
calendar year. Previously this indicator 
was reported by financial year. This 
has been implemented to better align 
reporting with the Department of 
Health and Human Services. This may 
result in some variances year on year.  
Time taken to action food complaints 
remains within 2 days.

Service standard

Food safety assessments

(Number of registered class 1 food 
premises and class 2 food premises 
that receive an annual food safety 
assessment in accordance with the 
Food Act 1984/Number of registered 
class 1 food premises and class 2 food 
premises that require an annual food 
safety assessment in accordance with 
the Food Act 1984) x100

100.00% 98.15% 99.83% This continues to be a solid result 
within acceptable tolerances.

Service cost

Cost of food safety service

(Direct cost of the food safety service 
/ Number of food premises registered 
or notified in accordance with the 
Food Act 1984)

$426.06 $407.79 $356.34 The reduction in costs in 2016/17 
compared to previous years is due to 
operational efficiencies.

Health and safety 

Critical and major non-compliance 
notifications 

(Number of critical non-compliance 
notifications and major non-
compliance notifications about a food 
premises followed up/Number of 
critical non-compliance notifications 
and major non-compliance 
notifications about a food premises) 
x100

99.00% 100.00% 100.00% From 1 July 2016, ‘Critical and major 
non-compliance outcome 
notifications’ will be reported by 
calendar year. Previously this indicator 
was reported by financial year. This 
has been implemented to better align 
reporting with the Department of 
Health and Human Services. This may 
result in some variances year on year.
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Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary2

Roads

Satisfaction of use

Sealed local road requests

(Number of sealed local road 
requests/Kilometres of sealed local 
roads) x100

81.02 96.75 107.49 Slight increase in requests compared 
to previous years, in 2017 Council 
introduced a new web portal allowing 
the community to lodge requests 
directly into Council's system.

Condition

Sealed local roads below the 
intervention level

(Number of kilometres of sealed local 
roads below the renewal intervention 
level set by Council/Kilometres of 
sealed local roads) x100

98.00% 98.39% 98.75% This continues to be a solid result 
within acceptable tolerances.

Service cost

Cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction

(Direct cost of sealed local road 
reconstruction/Square metres of 
sealed local roads reconstructed)

$216.07 $265.71 $247.35 The vast majority of sealed road 
reconstructions in Yarra involve 
reconstruction of bluestone laneways. 
Councils Road Materials Policy 
stipulates that all laneways in heritage 
overlay areas are to be constructed in 
bluestones, which significantly 
increases costs.

Service cost 

Cost of sealed local road resealing

(Direct cost of sealed local road 
resealing/Square metres of sealed 
local roads resealed)

$36.93 $36.22 $30.87 Cost reductions were achieved 
through economies of scale on a 
number of large resealing projects.

Satisfaction  

Satisfaction with sealed local roads

(Community satisfaction rating out of 
100 with how council has performed 
on the condition of sealed local roads)

72.40 73.30 72.30 Result from the Annual Customer 
Satisfaction Survey. This continues to 
be a solid result within acceptable 
tolerances.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 3

Making Yarra 
More Liveable

Service Performance Indicators (cont.)

1 Commentary only required where a result falls outside a certain range or material variation threshold.

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary2

Statutory planning

Timeliness

Time taken to decide planning 
applications

(The median number of days between 
receipt of a planning application and a 
decision on the application)

106.00 117.00 118.00 The Yarra Planning Scheme is 
complex and the level of rigour of 
analysis required for applications is 
high. The indicator is measuring all 
applications (from minor to very 
major) and is recording a 'median' 
turnaround time (this statistic is also 
irrespective of whether or not the 
'statutory clock' has stopped because 
of further information requests of the 
applicant). NB. The office charts 
turnaround times for four types of 
applications for monthly review.

Service standard

Planning applications decided within 
60 days

(Number of planning application 
decisions made within 60 days/
Number of planning application 
decisions made) x100

51.00% 43.61% 54.44% From 1 July 2016 this indicator will be 
updated to include VicSmart planning 
applications, which should be 
assessed within 10 days. This may 
result in some variances year on year.

Service cost

Cost of statutory planning service

(Direct cost of the statutory planning 
service/Number of planning 
applications received)

$2496.15 $3047.50 $3332.87 While the overall cost of delivering 
planning services in 2017 was 
relatively comparable with the 2016 
figures, the number of applications 
received were lower therefore the 
average cost is higher.

Decision-making  

Council planning decisions upheld at 
VCAT

(Number of VCAT decisions that did 
not set aside council’s decision in 
relation to a planning application/
Number of VCAT decisions in relation 
to planning applications) x100

87.00% 78.69% 74.07% The number of Council decisions 
upheld by VCAT was lower in 2016/17 
compared to previous years, this 
variance up or down will continue 
until Council has embedded clear 
policy within the planning scheme to 
direct growth. This work is currently 
being undertaken but won't be 
incorporated into the planning 
scheme for another 12 – 18 months.
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Fitzroy continues 
to be an important 
meeting place for 
Aboriginal people 
like Joboy Morgan, 
a renowned busker 
and respected 
community leader. 
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 4

Ensuring a 
Sustainable 
Yarra

Reducing Yarra’s 
environmental footprint is 
critical. Council has 
established a goal of a 
carbon neutral Yarra by 2020. 
Other aims include reducing 
waste going to landfill, 
increasing renewable energy 
use, improving biodiversity 
and increasing local food 
production, as well as greater 
use of locally collected 
rainwater to reduce storm 
water runoff and dependency 
on Melbourne’s water 
catchments.

In November 2012 Yarra 
became the first Victorian 
Council to be certified carbon 
neutral. This reflects our 
commitment to reducing the 
city’s environmental footprint 
– the resources we use to live 
– by reducing its reliance on 
potable water and energy, as 
well as reducing waste going 
to landfill. In 2011 Yarra was 
named as the Sustainable City 
of the Year, acknowledging 
the wide range of programs 
working to make Yarra more 
sustainable.

Strategies
The following strategies guide 
Council’s work in this area:

1. Develop and renew Council’s key 
environmental strategies.

2. Initiate and implement strategies 
to reduce Council’s carbon 
emissions and energy use.

3. Support the community to 
reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions.

4. Increase implementation of 
water-sensitive urban design.

5. Encourage urban agriculture.
6. Initiate and implement strategies 

to reduce Council’s potable 
water consumption. 

7. Initiate and implement strategies 
to reduce waste to landfill in 
Yarra.

8. Advocate to state and federal 
governments on their 
responsibility to achieve a 
sustainable Yarra.

Services
The following services have primary 
responsibility for delivering Strategic 
Objective 3:

Sustainability and Strategic 
Transport  
Uses cutting edge solutions  
to maintain Yarra’s status as a 
leader in the field of 
environmentally responsible 
practices. This includes support 
and promotion of cycling and 
walking, along with management 
of Council’s energy and water use.

Building Assets  
Maintains and manages Council’s 
building assets.

City Works 
Manages and maintains Council’s 
road and footpath infrastructure, 
along with its fleet, plant and 
equipment. Oversees all waste 
services and waste minimisation 
activities.

Highlight activities
› Yarra was named 2016 

Sustainable City of the Year at 
the Keep Victoria Beautiful 
Awards. Yarra also won three out 
of eight category awards 
including the Community Action 
and Leadership Award for our 
Roads to Parks program, which 
has created five new parks in 
place of roads and carparks 
since 2009.

› Yarra entered into a new waste 
services contract, which includes 
weekly domestic garbage and 
recycling collection, housing 
estate refuse collection and 
community education, litter bin 
clearance and maintenance, 
recyclables acceptance and 
sorting, festivals and events, and 
at-call green waste collection.

› Yarra entered into a new four-
year funding agreement with the 
Yarra Energy Foundation, an 
independent organisation that 
helps residents and businesses in 
Yarra take practical steps 
towards reducing carbon 
emissions.
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Activities

Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

4.01 Urban Wildlife 
Management 
Plan

Council 
Plan 
Initiative 

The review of the Urban Wildlife Plan was put on hold 
until the completion of the Biodiversity Health Survey, 
which was completed early in 2017.

10%

4.02 Urban Forest 
Strategy

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

This strategy will provide broad directions and key 
principles for the delivery of urban greening initiatives 
with a particular focus on reducing the impact of the 
urban heat island effect.

90%

4.03 Yarra Energy 
Foundation

Council 
Plan 
Initiative 

The Yarra Energy Foundation, an independent 
organisation that helps residents and businesses take 
practical steps towards reducing carbon emissions, was 
officially launched in 2011. Council provides funding to 
support the Foundation.

100%

4.04 Adaptive Assets 
Program

Annual 
Plan 
Action 

The contract for new solar and/or replacement battery 
installation has been awarded to the successful tenderer 
and installation has commenced. 

80%

4.05 Implementation 
of new waste 
management 
contract

Council 
Plan 
Initiative 

The new Waste Services contract has commenced. 100%

Of the five Activities within this Strategic Objective, three (60%) are complete or on-track. 

Bloom Award winner Dennis Troedel 
tends a community garden in Abbotsford.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 4

Ensuring a 
Sustainable Yarra

Strategic indicators 
(measures of success)

Of the seven Strategic Indicators, 
five (71%) were met or exceeded. 

Targets in the new  
Environment Strategy met  
for the following measures

› Reduction in Council’s  
energy use:  
Council’s organisational 
greenhouse gas emissions have 
further reduced, and are now 
40% down on the baseline. This is 
a very strong result, however the 
target of 55% has not been met.

› Reduction in  
community emissions:  
Council is working with the Yarra 
Energy Foundation to assist the 
community in achieving zero net 
emissions by 2020. The 
Foundation is responsible for 
reporting on progress towards 
this goal. There is no target for 
this indicator.

› Reduction in Council’s  
potable water use:  
This target was not met due to 
an increased demand for 
irrigation of open space and no 
alternative water or stormwater 
harvesting projects constructed 
in 2016/17. We are improving our 
irrigation methods with the 
installation of flow meters on all 
irrigated sports ovals and testing 
moisture sensors in parks. 

 However we are also increasing 
the number of areas we irrigate 
as the long-term environmental 
effects of not watering are 
outweighing the short-term 
water saving.

› Council’s energy needs 
generated from renewable  
and low-carbon local  
energy sources: 
Council continued to meet the 
target of 25%.

Council’s carbon neutral  
status (zero net emissions) for 
Council operations retained

Yarra remains a certified carbon 
neutral organisation. 

Stormwater and Drainage  
Asset Management  
Plans completed

The draft Drainage Asset 
Management Plan, which will 
ensure that Yarra’s 170 kilometres 
of drainage assets are maintained 
and renewed, is in the final stage 
of review. This indicator is on track 
with a result of 96%.

Waste per household  
going to landfill reduced in  
accordance with the new Waste 
Management Strategy 2014–20

The total waste generated for 
kerbside services was 15,680 
tonnes, a decrease of 98 tonnes per 
annum, which is a drop from 3.44 
kilograms of waste-to-landfill per 
person per week to 3.36 kilograms 
per person per week. 
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Service Performance Indicators

1 Commentary only required where a result falls outside a certain range or material variation threshold.

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary3

Waste collection

Satisfaction

Kerbside bin collection requests

(Number of kerbside garbage and 
recycling bin collection requests/
Number of kerbside bin collection 
households) x1000

81.70 57.62 62.19 The new waste collection contracts 
commenced on 1st July 2016. The 
collection runs for the new contract were 
different to the previous contract 
resulting in an increase in calls to lodge a 
collection request from residents while 
the contractor was still collecting.

Service standard

Kerbside collection bins missed

(Number of kerbside garbage and 
recycling collection bins missed/
Number of scheduled kerbside 
garbage and recycling collection bin 
lifts) x10,000

1.27 1.05 3.68 The new kerbside collection contract 
commenced on 1st July 2016, introducing 
changes to the previous collection 
schedule. Residents were informed of 
the new collection schedule and time 
however during the contract transition 
quarter from 1st July 2016 to 30th 
September 2017 the number of reported 
missed collections was unusually high 
(470). The high number of reported 
missed collections during the contract 
transition quarter has inflated the 
2016/17 results.

Service cost

Cost of kerbside garbage bin collection 
service

(Direct cost of the kerbside garbage 
bin collection service/Number of 
kerbside garbage collection bins)

$98.19 $98.56 $115.95 The new waste collection contracts 
commenced on 1st July 2016. Council 
entered into a rigorous tendering 
process to arrive at the best competitive 
market price for the service.

Service cost 

Cost of kerbside recyclables collection 
service

(Direct cost of the kerbside recyclables 
bin collection service/Number of 
kerbside recyclables collection bins)

$50.43 $49.81 $71.09 The new waste collection contracts 
commenced on 1st July 2016. Council 
entered into a rigorous tendering 
process to arrive at the best competitive 
market price for the service.

Waste diversion  

Satisfaction with sealed local roads

(Weight of recyclables and green 
organics collected from kerbside bins/
Weight of garbage, recyclables and 
green organics collected from kerbside 
bins) x100

37.00% 38.52% 37.36 Council continues to promote 
environmental sustainability and the 
benefits of recycling. This measurement 
is based on the behaviour of residents, 
the continuous increase in Multi Unit 
Developments (MUD’s) within Yarra 
impacts on this number as recycling 
behaviour in MUD's appears to be 
different to that of single dwellings.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 5

Leading 
Local 
Government

A changing and divergent 
community requires an agile 
and responsive organisation. 
To ensure that the 
community receives the 
right kind of support, 
Council continuously 
reviews and enhances its 
services.

Strategies
The following strategies guide 
Council’s work in this area: 

1. Align vision, values and 
organisational culture.

2. Encourage and support a 
workforce that reflects our 
community’s diversity.

3. Enhance internal systems and 
processes, and their integration, 
to improve community service 
delivery and governance 
support.

4. Build Council’s emergency 
management and recovery 
response.

5. Build community engagement 
to inform Council’s policy 
development and decision-
making.

6. Enhance access to Council 
information and services, 
including wider use of digital 
media.

7. Seek to achieve best practice 
standards, measured by 
benchmarking all services.

8. Enhance procurement and 
contract management practice 
to extract better value for 
money.

9. Enhance productivity and 
business support, and reduce 
risk for critical business 
processes.

Services
The following services have 
primary responsibility for 
delivering Strategic Objective 5:

Advocacy and Engagement  
Provides a consistent strategic 
approach to communications and 
issues management, as well as 
advocacy, media relations, 
publications, digital 
communications, customer service 
and civic events. Enhances cross 
organisational collaboration and 
responsiveness. 

CEO Office  
Organises council meetings 
business, facilitates legal advice, 
provides a range of professional 
services to internal and external 
clients, with an emphasis on 
governance-related issues 
including compliance, regulation, 
transparency and probity. 

People, Culture and Community  
Promotes accountability, 
competency, effectiveness and 
wellbeing as a shared responsibility 
of the organisation and its people. 
Supports community development 
in Yarra.

Finance  
Ensures Council remains financially 
sustainable and well positioned to 
deliver quality services to the 
community into the future. 
Provides financial accounting, 
management accounting, revenue 
management, valuations and 
payroll services to the 
organisation.
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Corporate Performance  
Ensures services and projects are 
strategically aligned, deliver value 
for money and are accountable to 
staff, Councillors and the 
community.

Risk, Audit and Procurement 
Ensures policies and procedures 
are in place to manage risk and 
engender confidence in Council’s 
corporate governance. Is 
responsible for oversight of the 
Internal Audit Program and 
provides the Secretariat function 
for Council’s Audit Committee.

Highlight activities
› Yarra’s customer service platform 

has broadened with our 
customer service team now able 
to engage with residents and 
ratepayers through Twitter and 
Facebook. 

› Councillor planning workshops 
were held as part of the 2017/18 
Annual Planning Process. 
Community engagement results 
were presented to Council for 
consideration in development of 
the new four-year Council Plan 
and Budget.

Activities

Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

5.01 Organisational 
Development 
Strategy

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

The strategy has been adopted and implementation has 
commenced.

100%

5.02 Continuous 
Quality 
Improvement 
Program

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

A Continuous Quality Improvement framework is being 
trialled for branches undertaking a Service Review to 
make systems and processes more efficient and 
effective.

100%

5.03 Project 
Management 
Framework

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Council will continue to implement its Project 
Management Framework to ensure a consistent 
methodology is applied to managing projects with a key 
objective of providing best value to the community.

90%

5.04 Executive and 
Council strategic 
planning 
sessions

Council 
Plan 
Initiative

Councillor planning sessions were held as part of the 
2017/18 Annual Planning Process. Community 
engagement results were presented to Council for 
consideration in the new four-year Council Plan. 

100%

All eight Activities within this Strategic Objective are complete or on-track. 
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 5

Leading Local  
Government

Activities (cont.)

Activity
Derived 
from Summary

% of 
target met

5.05 Capital works 
program

Annual 
Plan 
Action

The capital works program ensures facilities and 
infrastructure continue to meet community and Council 
needs. This year 295 projects were completed.

95%

5.06 Council election 
2016 and 
Councillor 
induction

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Council election in October 2016 resulted in the election 
of nine Councillors for the 2016–20 Council term.

5.07 Development of 
the new Council 
Plan

Annual 
Plan 
Action

Councillors, members of the executive team and senior 
staff participated in a number of workshops to review 
feedback from the community engagement sessions and 
develop the strategic directions and key initiatives to form 
the proposed Council Plan 2017–21.

Adoption of the new Council Plan was held over until 1 
August to enable consideration of an alternative budget 
model. 

95%

5.08 Government 
relations

Annual 
Plan 
Action

A key action in Yarra’s Strategic Advocacy Framework is 
to advocate for improved state and federal funding to 
local government. Key advocacy projects this year 
included Richmond Secondary College, Regional Sports 
Facility, affordable housing and Pride Centre.

Consulting the community  
on the big issues.
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Strategic indicators 
(measures of success)

Of the nine Strategic Indicators, 
nine (100%) were met or exceeded.

Agreed project management 
principles implemented 
Agreed project management 
principles have been implemented 
and a Project Management Office 
has been established to promote 
development of project 
management capability and 
culture in the organisation and 
provide a project assurance role to 
key projects. This indicator 
achieved a 100% result.

Council adoption of Strategic 
Advocacy Framework 
Council adopted its Strategic 
Advocacy Framework in December 
2013 to ensure that its advocacy 
efforts were coordinated, consistent 
and measurable. 

Achievement of Customer 
Guarantee targets 
Council no longer reports on the 
Customer Service Guarantee since 
the introduction of the state 
government’s Local Government 
Performance Reporting 
Framework (LGPRF). Under the 
LGPRF, Council is required to 
report on 41 service performance 
indicators across nine broad 
service areas as well as a 
Governance and Management 
checklist of 24 items.

Overall performance (as 
measured through the Annual 
Customer Service Survey) 
Council achieved a score of 6.97 out 
of a possible 10, exceeding its target 
of 6.79, for overall performance as 
measured by its Annual Customer 
Satisfaction Survey. The survey 
measures community satisfaction 
with a range of Council services and 
facilities as well as community 
sentiment on issues of concern in 
the municipality. 

Successfully obtain funding as  
a result of strategic advocacy 
A key priority of Yarra’s Strategic 
Advocacy Framework is to obtain 
government competitive grants. 

Council received $2.159m in 
competitive government grants, 
achieving a 100% result for this 
indicator. 

Implement new/upgraded 
finance system 
Implementation of the new  
finance system was completed  
on 30 June 2014. 

Council remains high 
performing against VAGO 
Financial Sustainability 
Indicators 
Confirmation of Council’s 
performance against the VAGO 
Financial Sustainability Indicators 
will not be available until October. 
Council’s preliminary results 
suggest that it will be on track  
in relation to these Strategic 
Indicators. 

They have therefore been recorded 
as successful for the purposes of 
the Annual Report.

Liquidity was 1.5 against a target  
of 1.5. 

Underlying Result was 6.31 against 
a target of 0.3.

Completion of Capital  
Works projects 
The adopted 2016/17 Council’s 
capital works program budget was 
$42.05 million across 310 projects. 
As at the end of June, there were 
295 capital works projects 
completed (95% of number of 
budgeted projects), with actual 
expenditure of $34.27 million (81% 
of budgeted expenditure). 
Compared to the adjusted budget 
of $36.61 million, the result is 94%. 
The adjusted budget reflects 
changes to the program 
throughout the year approved by 
Executive.
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STRATEGIC 
OBJECTIVE 5

Leading Local  
Government

Service Performance 
Indicators

Burnley Golf Course

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary2

Governance

Transparency

Council decisions made at meetings 
closed to the public

(Number of Council resolutions made 
at ordinary or special meetings of 
Council, or at meetings of a special 
committee consisting only of 
Councillors, closed to the public/
Number of Council resolutions made 
at ordinary or special meetings of 
Council or at meetings of a special 
committee consisting only of 
Councillors) x100

13.00% 12.67% 11.29% Council has actively sought to 
increase the transparency of 
decision-making by reducing the 
number of resolutions made at 
closed meetings.

Consultation and engagement

Satisfaction with community 
consultation and engagement

Community satisfaction rating out of 
100 with how Council has performed 
on community consultation and 
engagement

69.90 69.90 68.50 Result from the Annual Customer 
Satisfaction Survey. This continues 
to be a solid result within 
acceptable tolerances.
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4 Commentary only required where a result falls outside a certain range or material variation threshold.

Gleadell Street Market

Service 
Indicator 
Measure

2014/15 
Result

2015/16 
Result

2016/17 
Result Commentary4

Attendance

Councillor attendance at council 
meetings

(The sum of the number of 
Councillors who attended each 
ordinary and special Council meeting/
(Number of ordinary and special 
Council meetings) x (Number of 
Councillors elected at the last Council 
general election)) x100

88.00% 92.06% 93.00% This continues to be a solid 
result within acceptable 
tolerances

Service cost

Cost of governance

(Direct cost of the governance service 
/ Number of Councillors elected at 
the last Council general election)

$52,164.89 $51,908.85 $41,026.22 There was a decrease in 
Councillor operational 
expenditure in 2016/17 
compared to previous years, 
attributed in part to reduced 
expenditure as a result of 
Council elections and a  
change in Councils 
telecommunications contract 
resulting in reduction in costs.

Satisfaction   

Satisfaction with council decisions

(Community satisfaction rating out of 
100 with how council has performed 
in making decisions in the interest of 
the community)

65.80 68.60 67.00 Result from the Annual 
Customer Satisfaction Survey. 
This continues to be a solid 
result within acceptable 
tolerances.

77Yarra City Council 
Annual Report 2016/17



Governance, 
management 
and statutory 
information

The following information is 
provided in accordance with 
legislative and other 
requirements.

Governance and 
management

Councillor allowances
In accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1989, Yarra pays 
Councillors allowances in 
recognition of the long hours and 
many obligations associated with 
the office. The allowances are set 
by the Victorian Government.

These payments help to ensure 
that the role of Councillor is not 
restricted to people with 
significant independent incomes.

Yarra’s Mayor receives $76,521.00 
plus 9.5% (being the equivalent of 
the Superannuation Guarantee 
Levy) for a total of $83,790.50 per 
annum. 

Other Councillors receive $24,730 
plus 9.5% (being the equivalent of 
the Superannuation Guarantee 
Levy) for a total of $27,079.35 per 
annum.

Councillor expenses
The Local Government Act 1989 
provides that the Mayor and 
Councillors are offered appropriate 
tools and support to enable them 
to undertake their statutory 
obligations. 

There are substantial time 
commitments required of 
Councillors in order for them to 
properly represent their 
constituents and perform their 
significant legal responsibilities, 
which often require travel and late 
hours. To assist Councillors to 
carry out their duties, 
municipalities across Victoria 
provide them with efficient 
communication equipment and 
reimburse their official travel and 
telephone expenses and (where 
applicable) childcare expenses. 

Combined Councillor expenses 
and allowances in 2016/17 
amounted to $325,680 
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Barbour1 217 107 - 333 70 9,018 9,745

Bosler2 561 - - 342 303 18,282 19,488

Chen Yi2  
Mei2 752 - - 342 420 18,447 19,961

Colanzi1 - - - 744 85 27,249 28,078

Coleman 1,190 - 3,915 994 1,509 27,558 35,166

Fristacky 36 - - 911 1,533 26,875 29,355

Gaylard1 - - - 973 - 8,807 9,780

Huggins1 - - - 600 - 8,807 9,407

Jolly 34 - - 3,232 - 27,621 30,887

McEvoy2 279 - - 351 581 18,251 19,462

Nguyen2 610 - - 361 314 18,251 19,536

Searle2 - - - 369 110 18,251 18,730

Stone 182 - - 732 2,402 63,429 66,745

Vlahogiannis1 99 - - 435 - 8,806 9,340

Councillor 
expenses 2016/17 
(incorporates 
Councillor 
allowances)

1 Term ended in October 2016 
2 Term commenced in October 2016

Special Committees 
Council did not establish any 
special committees under section 
86 of the Local Government Act 
1989.
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Artist Robert Young with his spectacular 
‘Celebration Dreaming’ mural in Fitzroy.

Governance & 
Management 
Checklist

The following are the results 
of Yarra’s assessment against 
the prescribed governance 
and management checklist. 
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Statutory 
information

Carer support

Under section 11 of the Carers 
Recognition Act 2012, Council is 
required to provide information on 
its recognition and support of 
carers in its Annual Report.

Yarra provides paid carers leave 
and offers flexible working 
arrangements for employees with 
caring responsibilities, guided by 
our Flexible Working Policy. 

We also support community 
members with carer 
responsibilities through our Aged 
and Disability Services. During 
2016/17 this included:

› Supporting carers and people 
with disability who are eligible to 
transition to the National 
Disability Insurance Scheme 
(NDIS) by providing a direct 
point of contact, follow-up and 
referral pathways to the eligibility 
process and support for their 
planning process.

› Supporting the National 
Disability Insurance Authority to 
engage with residents and carers 
about the new scheme. This 
included holding forums, mailing 
out information and working 
with specialist providers.

Disability Action Plan 

Under section 38(3) of the 
Disability Discrimination Act 2006, 
Council is required to provide an 
update on implementation of its 
Disability Action Plan in its Annual 
Report.

The implementation of the Access 
and Inclusion Plan actions for 2016 
and 2017, which is due by 
December 2017, is nearing 
completion.

Of the 19 actions allocated for the 
two-year period, 13 actions were 

implemented in 2016/17. This is an 
outstanding result and 
demonstrates that close to 70% of 
the Action Plan has been already 
implemented. 

Highlights in 2016/17 include:

› Submission to the Parliamentary 
Inquiry into Ride Sourcing 
Services (August 2016) 
In consultation with the Disability 
Advisory Committee, Yarra 
advocated for accessibility 
requirements for these services. 
Our submission also included 
community concerns about 
issues arising from business 
models of these services.

› Internships for tertiary students 
with a disability 
As part of the national Stepping 
Into program, we offered two 
paid internships. They were 
completed with great success for 
both the students and the 
organisation.

› Access and inclusion 
performance indicators for 
managers  
Access and inclusion KPIs have 
been developed as one of the 
requirements for all managers in 
the performance and 
development review process. 

› Universal design seminar 
The City Works and Assets 
leadership group attended a 
seminar on Universal Design 
(UD). They showed strong 
interest and appreciation of the 
UD approach in their practice.

› Changing Places facility at 
community hub 
A new Changing Places facility 
has been opened at the 
Bargoonga Nganjin North Fitzroy 
Library to meet the needs of 
people with a disability and their 
carers. Changing Places facilities 
are larger than standard 

The following information is 
provided in accordance with 
legislative and other 
requirements.
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accessible toilets and have extra 
features such as a height-
adjustable adult-sized changing 
bench, a tracking hoist system, 
and space for a carer.

Domestic Animal  
Management Plan

Under section 68(A)3(c) of the 
Domestic Animals Act 1994, 
Council is required to provide an 
update on implementation of its 
Domestic Animal Management 
Plan in its Annual Report.

We continued to fulfil our 
commitments as outlined in the 
Domestic Animal Management 
Plan by:

› Publishing regular information on 
our website about responsible 
pet ownership and owner 
responsibilities.

› Conducting regular proactive 
park patrols to encourage 
responsible pet ownership.

› Offering and promoting 
discounted registration fees as 
per the Domestic Animals Act 
1994.

› Raising awareness of animal 
over-population and providing 
information to help reduce stray 
animals.

› Collecting and reuniting stray 
domestic animals with their 
owners and achieving a high 
reclaim rate compared to similar 
inner city councils.

› Completing all relevant staff 
training programs as per the 
Plan.

› Conducting one-on-one officer 
training on best practice and 
process improvement.

› Updating the standard operating 
procedures for officers and 
reviewing the overall process.

› Reviewing the Domestic Animal 
Management Plan and 
submitting it to the Department 
of Economic Development, Jobs, 
Transport and Resources.

› Undertaking annual audits of 
registered domestic animal 
businesses.

› Investigating animal-related 
complaints, including those 
related to barking dogs and dog 
attacks.

› Auditing and updating the 
Victorian Declared Dog Registry.

› Carrying out annual inspections 
of declared dangerous, menacing 
and restricted breed dogs as 
required.

Freedom of Information 
applications

Council is committed to making a 
wide range of information available 
to residents without the need for a 
formal request under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1982.

Where legal restrictions on Council 
mean that formal requests are 
required, Council strives to provide 
all information to which applicants 
are entitled, while preserving the 
privacy of third parties. 

During 2016/17, Council received 
83 Freedom of Information 
applications, a small increase on 
the previous year. While the 
Freedom of Information Act 1982 
provides Council with 45 days to 
respond, we were able to respond 
to most requests within 14 to 21 
days.

Freedom of Information 
requests 2012–2017

Year
Number of 
requests

2016/17 83

2015/16 73

2014/15 82

2013/14 75

2012/13 77

Freedom of information 
application outcomes 2016/17

Outcome
% of 
requests

Access fully granted 34

Access partially 
granted 41

Access refused 5

Withdrawn or not 
proceeded with 2

No documents to 
provide 1

TOTAL 83
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Governance, 
management 
and statutory 
information

Infrastructure and development 
contributions

Council doesn’t currently have a 
developer contribution plan, 
however it does receive open 
space contributions. Whilst these 
are not statutorily required to be 
disclosed, in the interests of 
transparency, Council is reporting 
on the contributions received, and 
where they have been expended. 
This is reflected in the table below:

Open Space Contributions  
2016/17 $’000s

Open Space Monetary Contributions Received 3,870

Open Space Contributions Received in Kind 0

Total Open Space Contributions Received 3,870

Open Space Contributions Expended:

Abbottsford new park 96

Allen Bain Reserve 6

Barkly Gardens 85

Children's Services Centres - Open Space 35

Darling Gardens 56

Edinburgh Gardens 4

George Knott Reserve 69

Kevin Bartlett Reserve 438

Langdon Reserve 99

Mayors Park 139

McConchie Reserve 123

Merri Creek Parklands 789

Minor Works 181

Open Space Waste Assets 134

Open Space Signage Renewals 60

Ramsden St Oval 13

Rushall Reserve 28

Scullin Walk 120

Studley St Reserve 36

W.T. Peterson Community Oval 25

Wangaratta St/Stewart St Reserve 29

Williams Reserve 476

Yarra Primary School 348

Total Open Space Contributions Expended 3,388

Balance transferred to Open Space Reserve 482
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Inner Melbourne Action Plan 
Implementation Committee

This committee has delegated 
powers, duties and functions 
relating to implementation of the 
Inner Melbourne Action Plan 
(IMAP). 

The Special Committee is 
established under section 86 of 
the Local Government Act 1989 
and is made up of representatives 
from the Cities of Maribyrnong, 
Melbourne, Port Phillip, 
Stonnington and Yarra. The 
Committee meets quarterly with 
governance and administration 
support provided by the IMAP 
Executive Officer. 

Ministerial Directions –  
Food Act 1984

Under section 7E of the Food Act 
1984, Council is required to detail 
any Ministerial Directions it has 
received in relation to its 
administration of this Act.

Council did not receive any 
Ministerial Directions during the 
reporting period.

Ministerial Directions – Road 
Management Act 2004

Under section 22(4) of the Road 
Management Act 1984, Council is 
required to detail any Ministerial 
Directions it has received in 
relation to its administration of this 
Act.

Council did not receive any 
Ministerial Directions during the 
reporting period.

Contracts

In accordance with regulation 14 of 
the Local Government (Planning 
and Reporting) Regulations 2014, 
Council discloses the following 
contracts:

Protected disclosures

Yarra employees have the right to 
report alleged unethical practices 
within the organisation without 
fear of repercussion. 

Reports of this kind are treated in 
accordance with our Protected 
Disclosures Policy, which is 
available from our website or the 
Governance Support Unit at 
Richmond Town Hall.

There were no disclosures notified 
to the Independent Broad Based 
Anti-corruption Commission under 
section 21(2) of the Protected 
Disclosures Act 2012 during 
2016/2017.

For further details, please  
contact our Protected Disclosure 
Coordinator, Ivan Gilbert, on  
9205 5110 or at  
Ivan.Gilbert@yarracity.vic.gov.au

Register of public documents 

In accordance with regulation 12 of 
the Local Government (General) 
Regulations 2015, Council has the 
following information available for 
public inspection. 

› details of overseas or interstate 
travel

› agendas and minutes of Council 
meetings

› minutes of committee meetings
› register of delegations
› details of property leases
› register of authorised officers 
› list of donations and grants.
Inquiries regarding these public 
documents can be made to the 
Governance Support Unit, located 
at the Richmond Town Hall.

Contract Type Details

Emergency contracts Nil

Contract arrangements approved 
by the Minister

The provision of Intergraph 
Geographic Information System 
(GIS) software and maintenance 
for three years, with an option to 
extend for a further two years.

Non-competitive contracts Nil
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This section contains 
comprehensive information 
about Council’s financial 
position, including 
Certification of the Financial 
Report and Standard 
Statements and the 
Independent Auditor’s 
Report. 

For a more general summary 
of Council’s finances refer to 
the Chief Financial Officer’s 
report section.

Understanding the 
financial statements
Council’s Financial Statements are 
presented in accordance with the 
Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Therefore particular terms required 
by the Standards may not be 
familiar to some readers. 
Furthermore, as Council is a ‘not 
for profit’ organisation, some of 
the generally recognised terms 
used in private sector company 
reports are not appropriate to 
Council’s reports. Council is 
committed to accountability, and it 
is in this context that this guide 
has been developed to assist 
readers to understand and analyse 
the Financial Report.

Council’s Financial Report consists 
of two main sections: the 
Statements and the Notes. There 
are five Statements and 38 Notes. 
These are prepared by Council 
staff, examined by Council’s Audit 
Committee and by Council itself, 
and then audited by the Victorian 
Auditor-General.

The five Statements included in 
the first few pages of the report 
are the:

› Comprehensive Income 
Statement

› Balance Sheet
› Statement of Changes in Equity
› Statement of Cash Flows
› Statement of Capital Works.
Notes to these Statements explain 
Council’s accounting policies and 
how values contained in these 
Statements were calculated.

Comprehensive  
Income Statement

The Comprehensive Income 
Statement shows:

› Sources of Council’s revenue 
under various income headings

› Expenses incurred in running the 
Council during the year.

These expenses relate only to the 
‘operations’ and do not include the 
cost associated with the purchase 
or building of assets. While asset 
purchase costs are not included in 
the expenses, there is an item for 
‘depreciation’. This value is an 
accounting entry to record the value 
of the assets consumed during the 
year. The key figure is the net result 
for the reporting period, which is 
equivalent to the profit or (loss) of 
Council for the year. A positive result 
means that revenues were greater 
than expenses. It is important to 
note however that this is not 
Council’s cash result for the year. 
Please refer to the Cash Flow 
Statement for Council’s cash 
movements.

Balance Sheet

This one-page summary is a 
snapshot of Council’s financial 
situation as at 30 June 2017. It 
shows what Council owns as 
assets and owes as liabilities. 

The bottom line of this Statement 
is net assets. This is the net worth 
of Council, which has been built up 
over many years. The assets and 
liabilities are separated into 
‘current’ and ‘non-current’ 
categories. ‘Current’ means those 
assets or liabilities that will fall due 
in the next 12 months. ‘Non-
current’ means those assets or 
liabilities that will fall due in greater 
than 12 months time. The 
components of the Balance Sheet 
are described below.
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Current and Non-Current Assets

› ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ 
include cash and investments i.e. 
cash held in the bank and in 
petty cash, and the market value 
of Council’s investments with a 
maturity date of less than three 
months.

› ‘Other financial assets’ include 
the market value of Council’s 
investments with a maturity date 
of greater than three months.

› ‘Trade and other receivables’ are 
monies owed to Council by 
ratepayers and other debtors.

› ‘Inventories’ represent Council’s 
stock of merchandise and fuels.

› ‘Non-current assets classified as 
held for sale’ are any assets that 
Council has identified will be sold 
within the next 12 months.

› ‘Investments in associates and 
joint ventures’ includes Council’s 
investment in local government 
business enterprises.

› ‘Property, infrastructure, plant 
and equipment’ is the largest 
component of Council’s worth 
and represents the value of all 
the land, buildings, roads, 
vehicles, equipment, etc. which 
has been built up by Council over 
many years.

Current and Non-Current 
Liabilities

› ‘Trade and other payables’ are 
monies owed to creditors by 
Council as at 30 June.

› ‘Trust funds and deposits’ 
represent monies held in trust  
by Council.

› ‘Provisions’ are accrued annual 
leave and long service leave 
entitlements.

› ‘Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings’ represent the loan 
borrowings held by Council.

Net Assets
This term is used to describe the 
difference between the value of 
total assets and the value of total 
liabilities. It represents the net 
worth of Council as at 30 June. 
The net assets of Council are also 
synonymous with the total equity 
of Council.

Equity

This is the term used to describe 
the components of net assets. 
These components are:

› ‘Accumulated surplus’, which is 
the value of all net assets 
accumulated over time.

› ‘Reserves’, which are made up of 
the Asset Revaluation Reserve 
(the difference between the 
previously recorded value of 
assets and their current 
valuations), and Other Reserves 
(allocations of the accumulated 
surplus for either general or 
specific purposes).

Statement of Changes in Equity

During the course of the year, the 
value of total equity (as set out in 
the Balance Sheet) changes. This 
Statement shows the values of 
such changes and how these 
changes arose. The main reasons 
for a change in equity stem from:

› Profit or loss from operations, 
described in the statement as 
‘surplus/ (deficit) for the year’.

› Revaluation of assets – this takes 
place every two years in 
accordance with Council policy. 

› Transfer of monies to or from 
Council’s general or specific 
Reserves.

Statement of Cash Flows

The Statement of Cash Flows 
summarises Council’s cash 
payments and cash receipts for 
the year. This Statement is 
presented according to a very 
specific accounting standard and 
requires careful analysis. The 
values may differ from those 
shown in the Income Statement 
because the Income Statement is 
prepared on an accrual accounting 
basis. Cash in this Statement refers 
to bank deposits and other forms 
of highly liquid investments that 
can readily be converted to cash, 
such as cash invested with fund 
managers. Council’s cash arises 
from, and is used in, three main 
areas: 

Cash flows from  
operating activities:

Receipts: All cash received into 
Council’s bank account from 
ratepayers and others who owed 
money to Council. Receipts also 
include the interest earnings from 
Council’s cash investments. It does 
not include the proceeds 
associated with the sale of assets.

Payments: All cash paid by Council 
from its bank account to staff, 
creditors and other persons. It 
does not include the payments 
associated with the creation of 
assets.

Cash flows from  
investing activities: 

The accounting term ‘investing 
activities’ relates to assets such as 
capital works and other long term 
revenue-producing assets. This 
part of the Statement includes all 
payments associated with the 
creation of assets and proceeds 
associated with the sale of assets.
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Cash flows from  
financing activities: 

This part of the Statement is where 
the receipt and repayment of 
borrowed funds are recorded. The 
bottom line of the Statement of 
Cash Flows is the Cash at the end 
of the financial year. This shows 
the capacity of Council to meet its 
debts and other liabilities.

Notes to the Financial Report

The Notes are a very important 
and informative section of the 
report. The Australian Accounting 
Standards are not prescriptive in 
relation to amount of detail. 
Therefore, to enable the reader to 
understand the basis on which the 
values shown in the Statements 
are established, it is necessary to 
provide an explanation of Council’s 
accounting policies. These are 
described in Note 1.

Apart from the accounting 
policies, the Notes also give details 
behind many of the summary 
figures contained in the 
Statements. The Note numbers are 
shown beside the relevant items in 
the key Financial Statements. 
Where Council wishes to disclose 
other information that cannot be 
incorporated into the Statements, 
this is shown in the Notes.

The Notes include the cost of the 
various functions of Council, the 
breakdown of expenses, revenues, 
reserves and other assets, 
transactions with persons related 
to Council and financial ratios 
(performance indicators). The 
Notes should be read together 
with the other parts of the 
Financial Report to form a clear 
picture of Council’s financial 
performance and position.

Statements by Principal 
Accounting Officer and 
Councillors

The certification by the Principal 
Accounting Officer is made by the 
person responsible for the 
preparation of the Financial 
Report. It certifies that, in their 
opinion, the report has met all the 
statutory and professional 
reporting requirements. The 
certification of Councillors is made 
by two Councillors on behalf of 
Council that, in their opinion, the 
Financial Report is presented fairly 
and is not misleading or 
inaccurate.

Auditor-General’s Report

The Auditor-General’s Report is 
the external and independent 
opinion on the Financial Report. It 
provides the reader with a totally 
independent opinion on the 
Financial Report and the 
information it contains. The 
opinion covers both the statutory 
and professional requirements and 
also the true and fair aspects of 
the Financial Report.
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Term Definition

Annual budget Council’s planned allocation of monetary resources for a specified financial year. 
The annual budget document sets out Council’s short-term goals and objectives as 
part of its overall strategic planning framework.

Annual operating 
budget

The budgeted operating result for the specified financial year, with distinction made 
between revenue received for operating purposes and revenue received for capital 
purposes.

Capital expenditure Large expenditure that results in (or prolongs the life of) an asset.

Capital renewal Expenditure on an existing asset that returns the service potential or the life of the 
asset, up to that which it had originally.

Financing activities Activities relating to changing the size and composition of the financial structure of 
the entity, including equity, and borrowings not falling within the definition of cash.

Infrastructure Physical assets that contribute to meeting the community’s need for access to major 
economic and social facilities and services.

International Financial 
Reporting Standards

Australian reporting entities currently report according to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Investing activities Activities that relate to acquisition and disposal of non-current assets, including 
property, plant and equipment and other productive assets. Investments are not cash.

Key financial 
indicators

Ratios and comparisons of critical financial data over a period of years to provide a 
better understanding of key measures, such as indebtedness and liquidity, which are 
often undisclosed when financial information is presented in a standard statement 
format.

New assets New assets or capital expenditure do not have any element of expansion or upgrade 
of existing assets. New capital expenditure may or may not result in additional 
revenue for Council. New assets will require maintenance and capital renewal in the 
future.

Operating activities Operating activities relate to the day to day provision of goods and services.

Operating expenditure Outflows in the form of reductions in assets or increases in liabilities, which result in a 
decrease in equity during the reporting period.

Operating revenue Inflows in the form of increases in assets or reductions in liabilities, which result in an 
increase in equity during the reporting period.

Statutory reserves Funds set aside for specified statutory purposes in accordance with legislative and 
contractual requirements. These reserves are not available for other purposes.

Working capital Funds that are free of all specific Council commitments and are available to meet 
daily cash flow requirements and unexpected short-term needs.

Financial glossary
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Yarra City Council 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Yarra City Council (the council) which comprises the: 

 balance sheet as at 30 June 2017 
 comprehensive income statement for the year then ended 
 statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
 statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
 statement of capital works for the year then ended 
 notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies 
 certification of the financial report. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the council as at 30 June 2017 and their financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of Part 6 of the 
Local Government Act 1989 and applicable Australian Accounting Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the Act are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial report in Australia. My 
staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Councillors’ 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Councillors of the council are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Local 
Government Act 1989, and for such internal control as the Councillors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Councillors are responsible for assessing the council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless it is inappropriate to do so. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial 
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also: 

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the council’s internal control

 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Councillors

 conclude on the appropriateness of the Councillors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the council’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
council to cease to continue as a going concern.

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

MELBOURNE 
25 September 2017 

Tim Loughnan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Rock-a-bye Baby concert 
at Fitzroy Town Hall.
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Performance 
Statement

Council has prepared the 
following performance statement 
in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1989 and Local 
Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014. 

Please note: the figures for 
‘Infrastructure per head of 
municipal population’ and ‘Rates 
effort’ have changed from what 
had previously been reported in 
Yarra’s 2015/16 Annual Report due 
to a retrospective change in 
calculation methodology, 

in consultation with Department  
of Environment Land Water and 
Planning and the Victorian Auditor 
General’s Office.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Councillors of Yarra City Council 

Opinion I have audited the accompanying performance statement of Yarra City Council 
(the council) which comprises the:  

 description of municipality for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 sustainable capacity indicators for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 service performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 financial performance indicators for the year ended 30 June 2017 
 other information and 
 the certification of the performance statement. 

In my opinion, the performance statement of Yarra City Council in respect of 
the year ended 30 June 2017 presents fairly, in all material respects, in 
accordance with the performance reporting requirements of Part 6 of the 
Local Government Act 1989. 

Basis for Opinion I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which 
incorporates the Australian Standards on Assurance Engagements. My 
responsibilities under the Act are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the performance statement section of my 
report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. I and my staff 
are independent of the council in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of 
the performance statement in Australia and have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Councillors' 
responsibilities for the 
performance 
statement  

The Councillors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
performance statement in accordance with the performance reporting 
requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and for such internal control 
as the Councillors determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the statement of performance that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the 
audit of the 
performance 
statement 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion 
on the performance statement based on the audit. My objectives for the audit 
are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the performance 
statement as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial 
report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Standards on Assurance 
Engagements, I exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. I also:  

 identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of performance 
statement, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the council’s internal control 

 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
statement of performance, including the disclosures, and whether the 
statement of performance represents the underlying events and results 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Councillors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 
 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
25 September 2017 

Tim Loughnan 
as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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Glossary The following table defines  
some of the key terms used  
in the Annual Report.

Term Definition

2016/17 A reference to the financial year beginning 1 July 2016 and ending 30 June 2017.

Act The Local Government Act 1989.

Advocacy Publicly supporting or recommending programs or services on behalf of the 
community to other tiers of government or service providers for community benefit.

Annual Plan A strategic document outlining the actions Council will undertake to implement  
its Council Plan during a specific financial year.

Annual Plan Action A specific Annual Plan activity designed to facilitate the achievement of a Council 
Plan Strategic Objective.

Annual Report A report of the council’s operations of the previous financial year and contains a report 
of operations, audited financial statements and an audited performance statement.

Assets Everything owned by or owed to Council such as roads, equipment and buildings. 
Assets are listed in the Financial Report.

Australian Accounting 
Standards 

The accounting standards published by the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

Best Value The continuous review of all services provided by Council to ensure they meet the 
required cost standards and needs of the community to deliver value for money. 

Budget A plan setting out the services and initiatives to be funded for the financial year  
and how they will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives specified in  
the Council Plan.

Committee A Committee that assists Council within the decision-making process and  
has a Councillor representative to assist with the consultation process. 

Community Grants Council allocates a sum of money for the Community Grants Program as part  
of the annual budget process. The funding supports not-for-profit community 
organisations in Yarra. 

Community  
Satisfaction Survey

A State Government requirement whereby councils conduct a survey once a year to 
obtain community feedback in order to gauge satisfaction levels with Council services. 

Councillors Elected representatives of Council. 

Council Plan A major strategic document outlining Council’s aims and initiatives  
for a four-year period.

Council Plan Initiative A specific Council Plan activity designed to facilitate the achievement  
of a Strategic Objective.

Financial Statements The financial statements and notes prepared in accordance with the Local 
Government Model Financial Report, Australian Accounting Standards and  
other applicable standards as they apply to the general purpose financial  
reports and statement of capital works, included in the Annual Report.

Financial Year The period of 12 months ending on 30 June each year. 
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Term Definition

Freedom of  
Information Request

A request for Council to provide access to documents pursuant to the  
Freedom of Information Act 1982.

Governance Governance relates to Council’s purpose, objectives, role and functions as  
set out in the Local Government Act 1989.

Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions

Generated from a large number of processes and from a range of sources.  
Key sources of greenhouse gases includes energy sector, transport emissions, 
agricultural, land use change and forestry, industrial processes and waste. 

Indicator What will be measured to assess performance. 

Local Area Traffic 
Management Study

Targeted research and consultation designed to inform safety and traffic  
flow improvements in residential streets.

Local Law The laws adopted by Council that prohibit, regulate and control activities,  
events, practices and behaviours within Yarra. 

Master Plan A high level document outlining Council’s plans for a key location within  
the municipality.

Measure How an indicator will be measured and takes the form of a computation,  
typically including a numerator and denominator.

Minister Refers to Local Government Minister. 

Performance  
Statement

A statement including the results of the prescribed service outcome indicators, 
financial performance indicators and sustainable capacity indicators for the  
financial year and included in the Annual Report.

Planning and 
Accountability 
Framework 

The key statutory planning and reporting documents that are required to  
be prepared by councils to ensure accountability to local communities in  
the performance of functions and exercise of powers under the Act.

Planning Scheme Planning rules created by Council and endorsed by the state government  
to guide land use and development.

Regulations The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.

Report of  
Operations

A report containing a description of the operations of the council during  
the financial year and included in the Annual Report.

Risk Management A policy and process for identifying business risks and controlling the  
likelihood and/or impact of a risk event occurring. 

Services Assistance, support, advice and other actions undertaken by a council  
for the benefit of the local community.

Service Outcome 
Indicators

The prescribed service performance indicators to be included in the performance 
statement which measure whether the stated service objective has been achieved.

Service Performance 
Indicators

A prescribed set of indicators measuring the effectiveness and efficiency of  
council services covering appropriateness, quality, cost and service outcomes.
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Term Definition

Strategic Indicator A target established in the Council Plan that is used to measure progress  
towards a Strategic Objective.

Strategic Objective A high level outcome contained in the Council Plan.

Strategic  
Resource Plan 

A plan of the financial and non-financial resources for at least the next  
four years required to achieve the strategic objectives in the Council Plan.

Strategy A plan of action intended to accomplish specific objectives. 

Sustainable Meet present day needs without comprising future generations’ ability  
to meet their needs. 

Sustainable  
Capacity Indicators 

A prescribed set of indicators measuring whether councils have the capacity  
to meet the agreed service and infrastructure needs of the local community  
and absorb foreseeable changes and unexpected shocks into the future  
covering financial performance, capacity and governance and management.

Values Values are beliefs that underpin behaviours and processes.  
The values of an organisation guide its culture. 

Victorian Civil  
and Administrative 
Tribunal (VCAT)

A body established by the state government to determine the outcome  
of disputes (e.g. planning appeals). 

Vision A description of the future we aim to achieve for Yarra – our city  
development and our community. 

Ward Defined electoral area to which a representative is elected as Councillor. 

Wellbeing A general term to encompass health, happiness, welfare, security, comfort,  
quality of life and a sense of belonging. 
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The following table defines 
some of the key acronyms 
used in the Annual Report.

Acronyms

Term Definition

AAS Australian Accounting Standards 

CALD Culturally and Linguistically Diverse

CEO Chief Executive Officer 

DDA Disability Discrimination Act 

EFT Equivalent Full-Time – one EFT is equivalent  
to one person working 38 hours per week 

LGBTIQ Lesbian, gay, bisexual, trans, intersex, questioning

LGPRF Local Government Performance Reporting 
Framework 

LGV Local Government Victoria 

M Million

MAV Municipal Association of Victoria 

MOU Memorandum of Understanding

NDIS National Disability Insurance Scheme

TAC Transport Accident Commission 

VAGO Victorian Auditor-General’s Office

VCAT Victorian Civil Administrative Tribunal
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A Tawny Frogmouth in Fairfield Park.

Contact us

Visit one of our 
customer service 
locations

Richmond Town Hall
333 Bridge Road, Richmond

Collingwood Town Hall
140 Hoddle Street, Abbotsford

Connie Benn Family 
and Children’s Centre
160 Brunswick Street, Fitzroy

Bargoonga Nganjin – 
North Fitzroy Library, 
182–186 St Georges Road, 
North Fitzroy

There are many 
ways to contact us

E info@yarracity.vic.gov.au

T 9205 5555

F 8417 6666

PO Box 168 Richmond VIC 3121

If you do not have home access to 
the internet, you can visit Council’s 
website via the computers at your 
local Yarra library. 

For further reading 
follow Council’s 
activities online

yarracity.vic.gov.au

 twitter.com/
 YarraCouncil

 youtube/
 YarraCityCouncil

 facebook.com/ 
 YarraCityCouncil

 instagram.com/
 CityOfYarra
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